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Independent Auditor’s Report
Board of Trustees
Hocking Technical College
3301 Hocking Parkway
Nelsonville, Ohio 45764
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of Hocking
Technical College, Athens County, (the College), and its discretely presented component unit, as of and for
the year ended June 30, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise
the College’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Millhuff-Stang, CPA, Inc.
1428 Gallia Street / Portsmouth, Ohio 45662 / Phone: 740.876.8548
45 West Second Street, Suite D / Chillicothe, Ohio 45601 / Phone: 740.851.4978
Fax: 888.876.8549
natalie@millhuffstangcpa.com / roush@millhuffstangcpa.com
www.millhuffstangcpa.com
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Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the business-type activities and the discretely presented component unit of
Hocking Technical College, Athens County, as of June 30, 2016, and the respective changes in financial
position and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis, the schedule of the College’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, and
the schedule of College contributions on pages 4 through 11 and 42 through 43 be presented to supplement
the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information
for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the College’s basic financial statements. The schedule of federal awards revenues and
expenditures, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) is
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The schedule of federal awards revenues and expenditures is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of
the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of
federal awards revenues and expenditures is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic
financial statements as a whole.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 23,
2016 on our consideration of the College’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the College’s internal control over financial reporting
and compliance.

Natalie Millhuff-Stang, CPA, CITP
President/Owner
Millhuff-Stang, CPA, Inc.
Portsmouth, Ohio
December 23, 2016
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
The discussion and analysis of Hocking Technical College’s (the College) financial statements provides an overview
of the College’s financial activities for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2016. Management has prepared the financial
statements and the related footnote disclosures along with the discussion and analysis. Responsibility for the
completeness and fairness of this information rests with the College’s management.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is an element of the reporting models adopted by the Governmental
Accounting Standard Board (GASB) in their Statement No. 34 “Basic Financial Statements - and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments” and Statement No. 35 “Basic Financial Statements - and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis - for Public Colleges and Universities.” Certain comparative information
between the current year and the prior year is required to be presented in the MD&A.
Using this Report
This annual report consists of a series of financial statements and notes to those statements. These statements are
presented following the requirements of GASB Statement No. 34 and Statement No. 35, and are organized so the
reader can understand the College as a financial whole, an entire operating entity.
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the College’s basic financial statements. The
College’s basic financial statements are comprised of two components: the government-wide financial statements and
notes to the basic financial statements.
Financial Highlights


Through a series of cost-savings/efficiency measures and right-sizing College staffing in response to the
current level of enrollment, the College produced a Change in Net Position of $5.5 million over the previous
year’s $.8 million.



The College introduced Athletics to its residential campus as a strategy for increasing visibility, enrollment
and student activities. For the first time since two new residence halls were added to its inventory in 2008,
the College’s residence halls were at 100% occupancy as all athletes were required to live in its residence
halls.



The College added an additional $1 million to its strategic reserve to continue to increase its expendable net
position to improve its Primary Reserve Ratio to the recommended level of .40.



The College’s Fiscal Year 2016 performance in Unrestricted Educational & General and Auxiliary operations
improved its cash position by 55% of its beginning cash balance as evidenced by the Cash Flow Statement.

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
One of the most important questions asked about the College’s finances is, “Is the College as a whole better off or
worse off as a result of the year’s activities?” The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position report information on the College as a whole and on its activities in a way that
helps answer this question. When revenues and other support exceed expenses, the result is an increase in net
position. When the reverse occurs, the result is a decrease in net position. The relationship between revenues and
expenses may be thought of as the College’s operating results.
These two statements report the College’s net position and changes in net position. You can think of the difference
between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources as one way to
measure the College’s financial health, or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the College’s net
position are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating.
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You will need to consider many other nonfinancial factors, such as the trend in College applicants, student retention,
condition of the buildings, and strength of the faculty, to assess the overall health of the College.
These statements include all assets, liabilities, and deferred inflows/outflows of resources using the accrual basis of
accounting, which is similar to the accounting used by most private-sector institutions. All of the current year’s
revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid.
The following is a comparative analysis of the major components of the net position of the College:
Net Position as of June 30 (in millions)
2016

Increase
(Decrease)

2015*

Percent
Change

$20.1

$15.0

$5.1

34.0%

60.5

60.5

0.0

0.0%

4.8

4.9

(0.1)

$85.4

$80.4

$5.0

6.2%

$4.6

$3.2

$1.4

43.8%

$10.1

$9.6

$0.5

5.2%

1.0

1.1

(0.1)

(9.1%)

Net Pension Liability

47.2

47.6

(0.4)

(0.8%)

Other Amounts

20.3

20.6

(0.3)

(1.5%)

$78.6

$78.9

($0.3)

(0.4%)

$9.7

$8.5

$1.2

14.1%

$39.9

$39.3

$0.6

1.5%

Restricted - Nonexpendable

1.2

1.2

0.0

0.0%

Restricted - Expendable

2.0

2.2

(0.2)

(9.1%)

Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets:
Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation
Other
Total Assets

(2.0%)

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities:
Due Within One Year
Due in More Than One Year:

Total Liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pension
Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets

Unrestricted
Total Net Position

(41.4)

(46.5)

5.1

11.0%

$1.7

($3.8)

$5.5

144.7%

*Certain reclassifications were made for consistency of reporting between years.
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Current Assets
Current Assets increased by $5.1 million primarily due to an increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents of $3.3 million as
a result of a positive net change in Unrestricted Educational & General and Auxiliaries of similar magnitude. Accounts
Receivable, Net increased by $1.3 million, followed by an increase in prepaid expenses of $.3 related to the employee
health benefit.
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
These categories, related to the College’s pro-rata share of the State’s unfunded pension liability and required to be
reported through GASB Statement No. 68, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions – an amendment of
GASB Statement No. 27”, increased 43.8% and 14.1%, respectively. The College has no control over these
amounts. More information about GASB Statement No. 68 and its impact on the statements of the College can be
seen in Footnote 9 and in the required supplementary information at the end of the report.
Net Position
The College’s overall net position increased by 144.7% over the previous fiscal year. This was primarily the result of
a positive net change of $5.1 million in Unrestricted. Through a series of financial controls over spending and a
number of cost-effective measures (including a change to the employee health insurance benefit resulting in lower
costs), this net change was the result. The Net Investment in Capital Assets increased by $0.6 million, primarily
because of the renovation of The Lodge at Hocking College (which will serve as the College’s Workforce Training and
Development Center) through Capital Appropriations.
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The following is a comparative analysis of the major revenue and expense categories of the College:
Operating Results for the Year (in millions)
2016

Increase
(Decrease)

2015

Percent
Change

Operating Revenues:
Tuition and Fees

$16.5

$18.0

($1.5)

(8.3%)

Grants and Contracts

0.8

0.7

0.1

14.3%

Sales and Services of Departments

0.2

0.0

0.2

100.0%

Auxiliary Services

5.0

4.5

0.5

11.1%

Other Operating Revenue
Total Operating Revenues

0.2

0.7

(0.5)

(71.4%)

22.7

23.9

(1.2)

(5.0%)

Operating Expenses:
12.9

17.0

(4.1)

(24.1%)

Academic Support

Instructional and Departmental Research

6.3

6.6

(0.3)

(4.5%)

Student Services

2.8

3.3

(0.5)

(15.2%)

Institutional Support

4.1

5.8

(1.7)

(29.3%)

Operation and Maintenance of Plant

3.3

2.5

0.8

32.0%

Scholarships and Fellowships

4.0

3.9

0.1

2.6%

Depreciation

2.0

1.9

0.1

5.3%

Auxiliary Services

3.3

3.4

(0.1)

(2.9%)
(12.8%)

Total Operating Expenses

38.7

44.4

(5.7)

Operating Income (Loss)

(16.0)

(20.5)

4.5

22.0%

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Grants and Contracts

7.5

8.3

(0.8)

(9.6%)

State Appropriations

13.3

13.5

(0.2)

(1.5%)

0.1

0.0

0.1

100.0%

Interest on Capital Asset-Related Debt

(1.0)

(0.9)

(0.1)

(11.1%)

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

19.9

20.9

(1.0)

(4.8%)

1.6

0.4

1.2

300.0%

1.6

0.4

1.2

300.0%

Net Investment Income and Other

Other Revenues (Expenses):
Capital Appropriations
Total Other Revenues
Change in Net Position

5.5

0.8

4.7

587.5%

Net Position - Beginning of Year

(3.8)

(4.6)

0.8

17.4%

Net Position - End of Year

$1.7

($3.8)

$5.5

144.7%
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Operating Revenues
Operating revenues include all transactions that result from the sales of goods and services such as tuition and fees,
educational department transactions and auxiliary service fees from residence halls, and operations of the College
bookstore, Lake Snowden and parking. In addition, certain federal, state, and local grants are considered operating if
they are not for capital purposes and are considered a contract for services.
Operating revenue changes were primarily the result of the following factors:


Student Tuition and Fees revenue decreased $1.5 million or 8.3% and the decrease is primarily the result of
decreased enrollment.



Auxiliary Services Revenues increased by $0.5 million due to increased occupancy (100% full) in the
residence halls as a result of bringing Athletics to the College and requiring all athletes to live in the residence
halls.

Operating Expenses
Operating expenses are all the costs necessary to perform and conduct the programs and primary purposes of the
College. The operating expense changes were primarily the result of the following factors:


Instructional and Departmental Research costs decreased $4.1 million or 24.1% primarily due to the reduction
of instructional staff which resulted in decreased spending for salaries and benefits. This reduction was
necessary to right-size the institution for the current level of enrollment.



Institutional Support costs decreased $1.7 million or 29.3% due to the reclassification of some expenses from
this function by the college.

Nonoperating Revenues
Nonoperating revenues are all revenue sources that are primarily nonexchange in nature. They consist primarily of
certain federal grants, State appropriations and investment income.
Nonoperating revenue decreased as a result of decreased federal student financial aid awards and state
appropriations due to the decrease in enrollment.
Other Revenues
Other revenues consist of items that are typically nonrecurring, extraordinary, or unusual to the College. Examples
are State of Ohio capital appropriations, and capital grants and gifts from local sources.
The increase in other revenues was primarily the result of an increase in Capital Appropriations from the State of Ohio
to be used for capital purchases or improvements. Most of that increase was attributable to the renovation of The
Lodge at Hocking College (formally The Inn) which will serve as the College’s Workforce Training and Development
Center to open in the fall of 2016.
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Statement of Cash Flows
Another way to assess the financial health of a College is to look at the Statement of Cash Flows. Its primary
purpose is to provide relevant information about the cash receipts and cash payments of an entity during a period.
The Statement of Cash Flows also helps users assess:




An entity’s ability to generate future net cash flows;
Its ability to meet its obligations as they come due; and
Its need for external financing.

Cash Flows for the Year (in millions)

2016
Net Cash From:
Operating Activities
Noncapital Financing Activities
Capital and Related Financing Activities
Investing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash
Cash - Beginning of Year
Cash - End of Year

($15.6)
20.7
(1.9)
0.1
3.3
6.0
$9.3

2015
($19.2)
21.8
(2.8)
0.0
(0.2)
6.2
$6.0

Increase
(Decrease)
$3.6
(1.1)
0.9
0.1
3.5
(0.2)
$3.3

Percent
Change
18.8%
(5.0%)
32.1%
100.0%
1750.0%
(3.2%)
55.0%

The major sources of cash from operating activities are tuition and fees, grants and contracts and auxiliary service
charges. Cash outlays include payments for wages, benefits, supplies, utilities, contractual services, and
scholarships and fellowships. Overall, net cash from operating activities increased due to decreases in expenses far
exceeding decreases in revenues.
State appropriations and certain federal grants are the primary sources of cash from noncapital financing activities.
The reporting standards require that the College reflect these sources of revenue as nonoperating even though the
budget of the College depends heavily on these sources to continue the current level of operations. Federal grants
decreased due to a decrease in authorized awards to students as a result of decreased enrollment.
The major sources of cash from capital and related financing activities this year is from the receipt of capital
appropriations primarily related to The Lodge at Hocking College (formally The Inn) which will serve as the College’s
Workforce Training and Development Center, while cash outlays include payments for construction projects and other
capital assets, and principal paid on the debt that was incurred to acquire and construct these capital assets.
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Capital Asset and Debt Administration
Capital Assets
At June 30, 2016, the College had $60.5 million invested in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation of $29.7
million. Depreciation charges totaled $2.0 million for the current Fiscal Year. Details of these assets for the past two
years are shown below.
Capital Assets - Net of Accumulated Depreciation as of June 30 (in millions)

2016
Land

Increase
(Decrease)

2015

$4.9

$4.9

$0.0

1.1

1.2

(0.1)

50.8

50.8

0.0

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

3.3

3.2

0.1

Vehicles/Fleet

0.4

0.4

0.0

$60.5

$60.5

Land Improvements
Buildings and Improvements

Total

($0.0)

The major capital additions this year were the renovations of The Lodge at Hocking College (formally The Inn) and
$0.5 million for new equipment during the year.
More detailed information about the College’s capital assets is presented in the notes to the financial statements.
Debt
At June 30, 2016, the College had $20.7 million in debt outstanding versus $21.2 million the previous year. The table
below summarizes these amounts by type of debt instrument.

Long - Term Debt Outstanding as of June 30 (in millions)

2016
General Receipt Improvement Bonds
Revenue Bonds
Total

Increase
(Decrease)

2015

$20.3

$20.8

0.4

0.4

$20.7

$21.2

($0.5)
0.0
($0.5)

The College has no current plans to issue additional debt.
More detailed information about the College’s long-term liabilities is presented in the notes to the financial statements.
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Economic Factors That Will Affect the Future
Leadership
In May 2015, the College hired Dr. Betty Young as its 4th President in its 47 year history after serving several months
as its interim President. In August, 2016, Dr. Young was offered a 5 year contract. Added to her management team
in early Fiscal Year 2017 was an individual seasoned in sales to serve as Vice President for Enrollment, Marketing
and Student Development.
Enrollment
Declining enrollment continues to be one of the College’s biggest challenges. With the addition of a vice presidential
position that deals with enrollment as well as marketing and student development and a revamping of the strategy the
College has used in recent years to attract students, a positive outcome is expected.
The College has a number of new programs at various stages of development and approval. The offering of those
programs is expected to assist in the enrollment efforts. In addition, all existing programs of the College will have
been through a program review by December, 2016 to determine what needs done to ensure they continue to be
relevant to employers’ needs.
The College is employing a number of retention efforts that are proving to be successful. Continued efforts and new
strategies in that regard are planned for Fiscal Year 2017.
The College just completed its inaugural year of introducing athletics to its campus. Approximately 180 students
came to campus to participate in athletics. This initiative has attracted students from the region as well as from other
states who desire to participate in athletics on a collegiate level and has raised the awareness of the College in wider
audiences. All athletes are required to live in the College’s residence halls, which has increased occupancy levels to
100%. This program is expected to bring continued visibility to the College and assist with the enrollment efforts.
Budgeting
Upon the arrival of Dr. Young as the Interim President of Hocking College in October, 2014 the College was facing a
$4.4 million budget deficit through a combination of reduced revenues and payroll overrun, but through her
leadership, ended the year with a slight surplus. By contrast, the College ended Fiscal Year 2016 with a positive net
change in Unrestricted Educational and General of $3.2 million and in addition added $1 million to its strategic
reserve.
The College will continue to be swift and decisive in response to changes in revenues, while improving its reserves
and liquidity.
In Summary
The College is approaching its 50th anniversary in 2018 and is working diligently to revitalize its reputation as an
innovative educational institution. It is in the midst of the creation of a new strategic plan. It understands its
importance to the district in which it exists and its responsibility to meet the initiatives of the State of Ohio in educating
Ohio’s workforce. The College believes that it is well-positioned to do so.
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2016

Primary
Institution

Component Unit
Foundation

ASSETS:
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash with Fiscal Agent
Accounts Receivable, Net
Intergovernmental Receivables
Due From Component Unit
Other Receivables
Inventories
Prepaid Expenses
Total Current Assets

$7,559,414
217,476
10,887,892
42,183
52,270
0
196,815
1,169,799
20,125,849

$862,863
0
0
0
0
84,474
0
2,400
949,737

Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents
Endowment Investments
Other Long-Term Investments
Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets
Total Noncurrent Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

1,590,450
1,166,073
1,982,961
4,907,291
55,627,165
65,273,940
85,399,789

193,747
493,802
0
78,880
1,268,176
2,034,605
2,984,342

4,558,221

0

LIABILITIES:
Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable and Other Accrued Liabilities
Due to Primary Institution
Unearned Revenue
Deposits Held in Custody for Others
Claims Payable
Long-Term Liabilities - Current Portion
Total Current Liabilities

1,901,967
0
7,490,207
218,946
434,896
1,028,930
11,074,946

380
52,270
0
0
0
0
52,650

Long-Term Liabilities:
Net Pension Liability
Other Long-Term Liabilities
Total Long-Term Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

47,235,428
20,267,544
67,502,972
78,577,918

0
0
0
52,650

9,660,993

0

39,875,392

1,347,055

1,166,073

687,549

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Pension

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Pension
NET POSITION:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for:
Nonexpendable:
Endowments
Expendable:
Loans
Debt Service
Scholarships
Capital Outlay
Other
Unrestricted (Deficit)
TOTAL NET POSITION

34,070
1,222,850
437,531
367,599
0
(41,384,416)
$1,719,099

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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0
0
204,984
0
46,762
645,342
$2,931,692

HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

Primary
Institution
REVENUES:
Operating Revenues:
Student Tuition and Fees (Net of Scholarship Allowances of $3,356,591)
Federal Grants and Contracts
Private Grants and Contracts
Sales and Services of Educational Departments
Auxiliary Services Revenues (Net of Scholarship Allowances of $566,050)
Other Operating Revenue
Total Operating Revenues

Component Unit
Foundation

$16,494,204
740,165
24,275
250,429
5,032,168
182,020
22,723,261

$0
0
0
0
0
786,299
786,299

12,941,436
87,471
6,273,651
2,770,475
4,121,498
3,271,874
4,035,056
1,984,486
3,283,735
0
38,769,682

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
36,525
0
470,143
506,668

(16,046,421)

279,631

7,530,441
13,245,247
0
78,706
(951,661)
19,902,733

0
0
154,438
2,236
0
156,674

INCOME BEFORE OTHER REVENUES, EXPENSES, GAINS, OR LOSSES

3,856,312

436,305

Capital Appropriations
Capital Grants and Gifts

1,584,279
61,000

0
0

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

5,501,591

436,305

EXPENSES:
Operating Expenses:
Educational and General:
Instructional and Departmental Research
Public Service
Academic Support
Student Services
Institutional Support
Operation and Maintenance of Plant
Scholarships and Fellowships (Net of Scholarship Allowances of $3,922,641)
Depreciation
Auxiliary Services
Other Operating Expenses
Total Operating Expenses
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Federal Grants and Contracts
State Appropriations
Gifts
Investment Income
Interest on Capital Asset-Related Debt
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

NET POSITION - Beginning of Year

(3,782,492)

2,495,387

NET POSITION - End of Year

$1,719,099

$2,931,692

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

Primary
Institution
______________

Component
Unit
Foundation
______________

$15,167,746
821,560
(23,806,365)
(2,158,582)
(1,369,798)
(1,245,351)
(4,303,624)
4,826,649
250,429
0
(3,790,184)
(15,607,520)

$0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
868,685
(486,405)
382,280

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Federal Grants and Contracts
State Appropriations
Gifts Received for Other Than Capital Purposes
Net Cash from Noncapital Financing Activities

7,530,441
13,245,247
0
20,775,688

0
0
154,438
154,438

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Capital Appropriations
Capital Grants and Gifts Received
Sale of Assets Received
Purchases of Capital Assets
Principal Paid on Capital Debt
Interest Paid on Capital Debt
Net Cash from Capital and Related Financing Activities

1,584,279
61,000
930
(2,038,844)
(542,949)
(951,661)
(1,887,245)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Tuition and Fees
Grants and Contracts
Payments to Employees
Payments to Suppliers
Payments for Utilities
Payments for Contractual Services
Payments for Scholarships and Fellowships
Auxiliary Services Charges
Sales and Services of Educational Departments
Other Receipts
Other Payments
Net Cash from Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest on Investments
Proceeds of Investments
Net Cash from Investing Activities

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

78,706
3,966
82,672

2,236
23,925
26,161

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

3,363,595

562,879

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, Beginning of year - Restated

6,003,745

493,731

$9,367,340

$1,056,610

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, End of year
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

Primary
Institution
Reconciliation of Net Operating Income (Loss) to
Net Cash from Operating Activities:
Operating Income (Loss)

($16,046,421)

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Operating Income (Loss) to
Net Cash from Operating Activities:
Depreciation
Change in Assets, Liabilities, and Deferred Inflows/Outflows of Resources:
Receivables, Net
Other Receivables
Inventories
Prepaid Expenses
Intergovernmental Receivable
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Accounts Payable and Other Accrued Liabilities
Compensated Absences
Unearned Revenue
Deposit Held for Others
Premium on Bonds
Claims Payable
Net Pension Liability
Deferred Inflows of Resources

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

-15-

$279,631

1,984,486

36,525

(1,270,420)
0
14,828
(333,377)
42,918
(1,380,983)
502,640
73,216
(245,498)
(219,293)
12,026
434,896
(327,654)
1,151,116

0
82,386
0
(2,400)
0
0
(13,862)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

($15,607,520)

Net Cash from Operating Activities

Component Unit
Foundation

$382,280

HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF THE COLLEGE AND REPORTING ENTITY
A. Description of the College
Hocking Technical College (the College) is a body politic and corporate established for the purpose of exercising
the rights and privileges conveyed to it by the constitution and laws of the State of Ohio (the State).
The College was formed after the creation of a technical college district, as defined in Chapter 3357 of the Ohio
Revised Code. The College operates under the direction of an appointed nine-member Board of Trustees. Three
members of this board are appointed by the Governor of the State. The remaining six members are appointed by
a caucus of the county, city and exempted village school districts' boards of education that operate in the
technical college district. A President is appointed by the Board of Trustees to oversee day-to-day operations of
the College. An appointed Vice-President of Financial Services is the custodian of funds and investment officer,
and is also responsible for the fiscal controls of the resources of the College which are maintained in the funds
described below.
The College is an institution of higher learning dedicated to providing the residents of the technical college district
with a low-cost higher education in various academic and vocational technologies, leading to a two-year
associate degree.
B. Reporting Entity
The reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component units, and other organizations that are
included to ensure that the financial statements of the College are not misleading. The primary government
consists of all funds, departments, boards, and agencies that are not legally separate from the College.
Component units are legally separate organizations for which the College is financially accountable. The College
is financially accountable for an organization if the College appoints a voting majority of the organization's
governing board and (1) the College is able to significantly influence the programs or services performed or
provided by the organization; or (2) the College is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the organization's
resources; the College is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the responsibility to finance the deficits of,
or provide financial support to, the organization; or the College is obligated for the debt of the organization.
Component units may also include organizations that are fiscally dependent on the College in that the College
approves the budget, the issuance of debt, or the levying of taxes.
The Hocking College Foundation, Inc. (the Foundation), is not a part of the primary government of the College,
but due to its relationship with the College, it is discretely presented as a component unit within the College's
financial statements. The Foundation is a nonprofit corporation fund-raising organization, dedicated solely to
raising scholarships and other funds for the benefit of the College. Specific disclosures relating to the component
unit can be found in Note 16.
The Southeast Ohio Probation Treatment Alternative Center (SEPTA) is a legally separate organization, but only
the assets being held and a corresponding liability are included in the financial statements, since the College acts
only as fiscal agent for them. The College’s role as fiscal agent ended June 30, 2016 and the College will be
transferring all remaining assets to the new fiscal agent, the Athens County Auditor, during fiscal year 2017.
The College is associated with the South Central Ohio Insurance Consortium, which is a jointly governed
organization. Information concerning this organization is presented in Note 15 to the basic financial statements.
The College is not considered to be a component unit of the State.
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A. Basis of Accounting and Presentation
The financial statements of the College have been prepared using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when
they have been reduced to a legal or contractual obligation to pay, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the
provider have been met.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as
prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), including Statement No. 34, Basic
Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments, and
Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for Public Colleges
and Universities, issued in June and November, 1999. The College follows the "business-type activities"
reporting requirements of GASB Statement No. 34 that provides a comprehensive one-column look at the
financial activities of the College.
The College maintains separate accounting records for several funds, to help assure proper accountability over
financial resources restricted to the respective funds. Management has consolidated these funds in these
financial statements.
B. Budgetary Process
The budget is an annual plan for the financial operations of the College that establishes a basis of control and
evaluation of activities financed through the unrestricted current funds of the College. Formal adoption of the
budget into the accounting records is not legally mandated, but the College does integrate the board approved
budget into its accounts to provide control and evaluation of financial activities.
C. Appropriations
To provide control over expenditures, a budget is prepared by the Vice-President of Financial Services with input
from other administrative staff and presented to the Board of Trustees for their approval near the beginning of the
fiscal year. To account for major developments that occur during the first six months, a revised budget may be
prepared and presented to the Board for their approval at anytime during the same fiscal year.
D. Encumbrances
The College utilizes an encumbrance system of accounting to record purchase orders, contracts and other
commitments for materials or services as a measure of budgetary control over appropriations. Encumbrances
outstanding at June 30, 2016 do not constitute expenses or liabilities and are not reflected in the financial
statements.
E. Cash and Investments
To improve cash management, all cash received by the College is pooled in a central bank account, except for
the cash received for the Hocking College Foundation, Inc. and escrow accounts related to bond activity, which
are held separately from the cash management pool of the College. For internal control and accountability
purposes, individual fund integrity is maintained through the College records. During fiscal year 2016,
investments were limited to certificates of deposit with local institutions and money market funds.
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
The College makes investments in accordance with the Board of Trustees' policy, which conforms to the authority
granted in the Ohio Revised Code. The purchase of specific investment instruments is at the discretion of the
College's Vice-President of Financial Services within these policy guidelines.
Except for nonparticipating investment contracts, investments are reported at fair value which is based on quoted
market prices. Nonparticipating investment contracts such as repurchase agreements and nonnegotiable
certificates of deposit are reported at cost.
For purposes of the presentation on the Statement of Net Position, investments of the cash management pool or
investments with a maturity of three months or less at the time they are purchased by the College are considered
to be cash equivalents.
F. Accounts Receivables
Receivables at June 30, 2016 consist primarily of student tuition and fees, and auxiliary sales and services.
Receivables are reported at net using the direct write-off method.
G. Inventory
Inventories consist primarily of books and supplies of the bookstore and food inventory for the culinary program
and dining services which are stated at the lower of cost or market determined on the first-in-first-out (FIFO)
basis.
H. Capital Assets
Capital assets with a unit cost of $5,000 or greater are recorded at cost at the date of acquisition, or if donated, at
fair market value at the date of donation. The College has no significant infrastructure assets. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset and is not allocated to the
functional expense categories. Expenses for construction in progress are capitalized as incurred. Interest
expense relating to construction is capitalized net of interest income earned on resources set aside for this
purpose.
Estimated
Useful Life
(Years)

Asset Description
Land Improvements

I.

5

Buildings and Improvements

20-50

Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment

5-15

Vehicles/Fleet

3-5

Compensated Absences
The College records a liability for sick leave and vacation when the obligation is attributable to services previously
rendered, to rights that vest or accumulate, and where payment of the obligation is probable and can be
reasonably determined.
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
J.

Pensions
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the pension
plans and additions to/deductions from their fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as
they are reported by the pension systems. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. The pension systems
report investments at fair value.

K. Operating and Nonoperating Revenues
All revenues from programmatic sources are considered to be operating revenues. Included in nonoperating
revenues are certain federal grants and contracts, state appropriations, investment income, and gifts.
L. Scholarship Allowances and Student Aid
Financial aid to students is reported in the financial statements under the alternative method as prescribed by the
National Association of College and University Business Officers (NACUBO). Certain aid such as loans, funds
provided to students as awarded by third parties, and Federal Direct Lending is accounted for as a third party
payment (credited to the student's account as if the student made the payment). All other aid is reflected in the
financial statements as operating expenses, or scholarship allowances, which reduces revenues. The amount
reported as operating expense represents resources provided in excess of amounts owed by the student to the
institution and refunded to the students. Scholarship allowances represent the portion of aid provided to the
student in the form of reduced tuition. Under the alternative method, these amounts are computed on a cash
basis by allocating the cash payments to students, excluding payments for services, on the ratio of total aid to the
aid not considered to be third party aid.
M. Federal Financial Assistance Programs
The College participates in federally funded Pell Grants, SEOG Grants, Federal Work-Study, Federal Direct
Lending, and various other federal programs. Federal programs are audited in accordance with Title 2 U.S. Code
of the Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards.
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, the College processed $14,040,381 for direct lending through the
U.S. Department of Education, which is not included as revenues and expenses on the accompanying financial
statements.
N. Net Position
GASB Statement No. 34 reports equity as "net position" rather than "fund balance." Net position is classified
according to external donor restrictions or availability of assets for satisfying obligations of the College.
Expendable restricted net position represents funds that have been gifted for specific purposes, funds held in
federal and state programs, unexpended bond proceeds restricted for capital use, and funds held in bond escrow
accounts.
When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available,
the policy of the College is to first apply restricted resources.
The unrestricted net position deficit balance of $41,384,416 at June 30, 2016 includes a balance of $911,008 held
for auxiliary services.
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
O. Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements
and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
P. Restricted Assets
Assets are reported as restricted when limitations on their use change the normal understanding of the availability
of the asset. Such constraints are either imposed by creditors, contributors, grantors or laws of other governments
or imposed by enabling legislation. As of June 30, 2016, the College reported $1,590,450 of restricted assets,
which is payments made to the escrow agent which are to be used for debt service payments related to the series
2013 bond issuance and unexpended bond proceeds to be used for capital purposes.
Q. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows
of resources. Deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future
period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. For the College,
deferred outflows of resources includes pension. The deferred outflows of resources related to pension are
explained in Note 9.
In addition to the liabilities, the statement of net position reports a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period
and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. For the College, deferred inflows of
resources includes pension. The deferred inflows of resources related to pension are explained in Note 9.
NOTE 3 - NEW GASB PRONOUNCEMENTS
For fiscal year 2016, the College implemented GASB Statement No. 72, “Fair Value Measurement and Application”,
GASB Statement No. 73, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets that are not within the
Scope of GASB 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 38”, and GASB Statement
No. 76, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for State and Local Government.” The
implementation of GASB Statements No. 72, 73 and 76 had no effect on the prior period fund balances of the
College.
NOTE 4 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS
State statutes classify monies held by the College into three categories.
Active deposits are public deposits necessary to meet current demands on the treasury. Such monies must be
maintained either as cash in the College treasury, in commercial accounts payable or be withdrawable on demand,
including negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) accounts, or in money market deposit accounts.
Inactive deposits are public deposits that the College has identified as not required for use within the current five year
period of designation of depositories. Inactive deposits must either be evidenced by certificates of deposit maturing
not later than the end of the current period of designation of depositories, or by savings or deposit accounts including,
but not limited to, passbook accounts.
Interim deposits are public deposits which are not needed for immediate use but which will be needed before the end
of the current period of designation of depositories. Interim deposits must be evidenced by time certificates of deposit
maturing not more than one year from the date of deposit, or by savings or deposit accounts including passbook
accounts.
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
NOTE 4 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued
Public depositories must give security for all public funds on deposit. These institutions may either specifically
collateralize individual accounts in lieu of amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), or
may pledge a pool of government securities equal to at least 105% of the total value of public funds on deposit at the
institution. Repurchase agreements must be secured by the specific government securities upon which the
repurchase agreements are based. These securities must be obligations of or guaranteed by the United States and
mature or be redeemable within five years of the date of the related repurchase agreement. State law does not
require security for public deposits and investments to be maintained in the College's name. During fiscal year 2016,
the College complied with the provisions of these statutes.
Interim monies are permitted to be deposited or invested in the following securities:
a.

United States Treasury Notes, Bills, Bonds, or other obligations or securities issued by the United States
Treasury, or any other obligations guaranteed as to principal and interest by the United States;

b.

Bonds, notes, debentures, or other obligations or securities issued by any federal government agency or
instrumentality, including but not limited to, the Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan
Bank, Federal Farm Credit Bank, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, Government National
Mortgage Association, and Student Loan Marketing Association. All federal agency securities shall be
direct issuances of federal government agencies or instrumentalities;

c.

Written repurchase agreements in the securities listed above provided that the fair value of the securities
subject to the repurchase agreement exceeds the principal value of the agreement by at least two percent
and be marked to fair value daily, and that the term of the agreement must not exceed thirty days;

d.

Bonds and other obligations of the State;

e.

No-load money market mutual funds consisting exclusively of obligations described in division (a) or (b) of
this section and repurchase agreements secured by such obligations, provided that investments in securities
described in this division are made only through eligible institutions; and

f.

The State Treasurer's investment pool (STAR Ohio).

Investments in stripped principal or interest obligations, reverse repurchase agreements and derivatives are
prohibited. The issuance of taxable notes for arbitrage, the use of leverage and short selling are also prohibited. Any
investments must mature within five years from the date of purchase unless matched to a specific obligation or debt of
the College, and must be purchased with the expectation that it will be held to maturity.
Investments may only be made through specified dealers and institutions. Payment for investments may be made
only upon delivery of the securities representing the investments to the treasurer or qualified trustee or, if the
securities are not represented by a certificate, upon receipt of confirmation of transfer from the custodian.
The following information classifies deposits and investments by categories of risk as defined in GASB Statement No.
3, "Deposits with Financial Institutions, Investments (including Repurchase Agreements) and Reverse Repurchase
Agreements" and GASB Statement No. 40, "Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures".
Deposits: Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the College's deposits may not be
returned. All deposits are collateralized with eligible securities in amounts equal to at least 105% of the carrying value
of the deposits. Such collateral, as permitted by the Ohio Revised Code, is held in single financial institution collateral
pools at Federal Reserve Banks, or at member banks of the federal reserve system, in the name of the respective
depository bank and pledged as a pool of collateral against all of the public deposits it holds or as specific collateral
held at the Federal Reserve Bank in the name of the College.
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
NOTE 4 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued
At June 30, 2016, the carrying amount of all College deposits was $10,708,448. Based on the criteria described in
GASB Statement No. 40, "Deposits and Investment Risk Disclosures", as of June 30, 2016, the College's bank
balance of $11,081,344 was either insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or collateralized with pooled
securities held by the pledging financial institution in the manner described above.
Investments: As of June 30, 2016, the College investments were limited to money market funds which totaled
$1,590,450 and had maturies of less than one year.
The College has categorized its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the
asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 inputs are significant other
observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. All of the College’s investments are valued
using pricing sources as provided by the investments managers (Level 1 inputs)
Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates and according to
state law, the College's investment policy limits investment portfolio maturities to five years or less.
Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.
The College’s investment policy does not address credit risk beyond the requirements of the Ohio Revised Code.
The money market funds are unrated.
Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the College
will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside
party. All of the College’s securities are either insured and registered in the name of the College or at least registered
in the name of the College. The College has no investment policy dealing with investment custodial credit risk beyond
the requirements in the state statute that prohibit the payment for investments prior to the delivery of the securities
representing such investments to the treasurer or qualified trustee.
Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a
government’s investment in a single issuer. The College places no limit on the amount that may be invested in any
one issuer.
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2016 was as follows:
Balance at
June 30, 2015

Additions

Balance at
June 30, 2016

Reductions

Nondepreciable Capital Assets:
Land

$4,907,291

$0

$0

$4,907,291

4,907,291

0

0

4,907,291

5,070,974

52,810

0

5,123,784

68,970,415

1,386,374

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

7,653,315

523,883

Vehicles/Fleet

1,819,712

75,777

(70,302)

1,825,187

Total Depreciable Capital Assets

83,514,416

2,038,844

(205,743)

85,347,517

Total Cost of Capital Assets

88,421,707

2,038,844

(205,743)

90,254,808

Total Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets:
Land Improvements
Buildings and Improvements

(135,441)
0

70,221,348
8,177,198

Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Land Improvements

(3,920,622)

(177,360)

0

(4,097,982)

(18,184,207)

(1,302,863)

115,125

(19,371,945)

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

(4,424,232)

(434,826)

0

(4,859,058)

Vehicles/Fleet

(1,381,688)

(69,437)

59,758

(1,391,367)

Total Accumulated Depreciation

(27,910,749)

(1,984,486)

174,883

(29,720,352)

Capital Assets, Net

$60,510,958

($30,860)

$60,534,456

Buildings and Improvements

$54,358

The College’s capital assets include the costs of the $4,023,873 project to construct an Energy Institute facility. This
facility is being used for educational and developmental purposes and alternative energy technology programs, fuel
cell technology programs, and vehicular hybrid programs. Funding for this project includes an Economic
Development Administration federal grant of $1,612,982 and matching funding from the College. The source of the
College’s matching amount was a $3,000,000 Bond Anticipation Note issued in September 2007. The agreement for
this grant funding includes a stipulation that if the College decides to use this facility in a different manner other than
for alternative energy programs or decides to sell the facility within a 20 year period, this grant will become a
mortgage and the entire amount will have to be repaid to the U.S. Department of Commerce. As long as the College
uses this facility for its intended purpose for at least 20 years, the College is not obligated to repay any amount of this
grant. The College has not reported a liability for this agreement since no obligation to repay exists at June 30, 2016.
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
NOTE 6 - STATE SUPPORT
The College is a state-assisted institution of higher education which receives a student based subsidy from the State.
This subsidy is determined annually based upon a formula devised by the Ohio Board of Regents.
In addition to the student subsidies, the State provides some capital funding for construction and deferred
maintenance. The funding is obtained from the issuance of special obligation bonds by the Ohio Public Facilities
Commission (OPFC), which in turn causes the construction and subsequent lease of the facility by the Ohio Board of
Regents. Upon completion of a facility, the Board of Regents turns over control to the College, which capitalizes the
cost thereof. Neither the obligation for the special obligation bonds issued by the Ohio Public Facilities Commission
nor the annual debt service charges for principal and interest on the bonds are reflected in the financial statements of
the College. These are currently being funded through appropriations to the Ohio Board of Regents by the Ohio
General Assembly.
The facilities are not pledged as collateral for the special obligation bonds. Instead, the bonds are supported by a
pledge of monies in the Higher Education Bond Service Fund established in the custody of the Treasurer of the State.
If sufficient monies are not available from this fund, a pledge exists to assess a special student fee uniformly
applicable to students in state-assisted institutions of higher education throughout the state.
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Long-term liabilities of the College consist of general receipts improvement bonds, a revenue bond, net pension
liability, and compensated absences payable. The change in long-term liabilities are as shown below:
Balance at
June 30, 2015

Additions

Balance at
June 30, 2016

Due Within
One Year

$495,000

$20,015,000

$515,000

12,026

264,579

12,026

Reductions

Bonds Payable:
General Receipts Improvement Bonds;

$20,510,000

$0

3.0% - 5.0%
Premium on Bonds

276,605

Tax Exempt Revenue Bond; 3.07%

427,434

0

47,949

379,485

49,420

21,214,039

0

554,975

20,659,064

576,446

STRS

34,811,479

0

2,529,620

32,281,859

0

SERS

12,751,603

2,201,966

0

14,953,569

0

47,563,082

2,201,966

2,529,620

47,235,428

0

564,194

669,408

596,192

637,410

452,484

564,194

669,408

596,192

637,410

452,484

$69,341,315

$2,871,374

$3,680,787

$68,531,902

$1,028,930

Total Bonds Payable
Net Pension Liability:

Total Net Pension Liability
Other Liabilities:
Compensated Absences Payable
Total Other Liabilities
Total Long-Term Liabilities

The College issued general receipt improvement bonds, series 2013, in the amount of $20,995,000 at 3.0% - 5.0%
interest dated August 1, 2013 for the purchase of two of the student residence buildings from the Foundation and to
also provide funds for various capital improvements throughout the College. Principal is due and payable annually on
July 1st. Interest is due and payable semi-annually on July 1st and January 1st. The debt matures on July 1, 2038.
The College issued an Ohio Air Quality tax exempt revenue bond in the amount of $535,043 at 3.07% interest dated
August 31, 2012 for the acquisition, construction and installation of energy related projects at the main campus in
Nelsonville. Principal is due and payable annually on December 1st. Interest is due and payable semi-annually on
December 1st and June 1st. The debt matures on December 1, 2022.
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES – Continued
The annual requirements to amortize long-term obligations outstanding as of June 30, 2016 are as follows:

Year Ended
June 30

Tax Exempt Revenue
Bonds
Principal

General Receipts Improvement
Bonds

Interest

Principal

Interest

Total
Principal

Interest

2017

$49,420

$10,892

$515,000

$931,850

$564,420

$942,742

2018

50,938

9,351

535,000

916,400

585,938

925,751

2019

52,501

7,763

555,000

895,000

607,501

902,763

2020

54,113

6,127

580,000

872,800

634,113

878,927

2021

55,775

4,440

600,000

849,600

655,775

854,040

2022-2026

116,738

3,610

3,410,000

3,856,850

3,526,738

3,860,460

2027-2031

0

0

4,315,000

2,984,638

4,315,000

2,984,638

2032-2036

0

0

5,495,000

1,837,575

5,495,000

1,837,575

2037-2039

0

0

4,010,000

407,750

4,010,000

407,750

$379,485

$42,183

$20,015,000

$13,552,463

$20,394,485

$13,594,646

Total Payments

NOTE 8 - OPERATING LEASES
The College leases classroom and laboratory space near the Logan Campus for instructional purposes from Rokeith
Enterprises Inc. The lease for the space is a noncancelable lease which expires July 31, 2022. Monthly rental
through and including July 2022 is $17,452. The following is a schedule of minimum lease payments under the
operating lease:

Fiscal Year
Ending

Lease
Payments

2017

$209,424

2018

209,424

2019

209,424

2020

209,424

2021

209,424

2022-2023

226,876

Total Payments

$1,273,996
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Net Pension Liability
Pensions are a component of exchange transactions-–between an employer and its employees—of salaries and
benefits for employee services. Pensions are provided to an employee—on a deferred-payment basis—as part of the
total compensation package offered by an employer for employee services each financial period. The obligation to
sacrifice resources for pensions is a present obligation because it was created as a result of employment exchanges
that already have occurred.
The net pension liability on the Statement of Net Position represents the College’s proportionate share of each
pension plan’s collective actuarial present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service,
net of each pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The net pension liability calculation is dependent on critical longterm variables, including estimated average life expectancies, earnings on investments, cost of living adjustments and
others. While these estimates use the best information available, unknowable future events require adjusting this
estimate annually.
Ohio Revised Code limits the College’s obligation for this liability to annually required payments. The College cannot
control benefit terms or the manner in which pensions are financed; however, the College does receive the benefit of
employees’ services in exchange for compensation including pension.
GASB Statement No. 68 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because (1) they benefit from
employee services; and (2) State statute requires all funding to come from these employers. All contributions to date
have come solely from these employers (which also includes costs paid in the form of withholdings from employees).
State statute requires the pension plans to amortize unfunded liabilities within 30 years. If the amortization period
exceeds 30 years, each pension plan’s board must propose corrective action to the State legislature. Any resulting
legislative change to benefits or funding could significantly affect the net pension liability. Resulting adjustments to
the net pension liability would be effective when the changes are legally enforceable.
The proportionate share of each plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net pension liability on the
accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for the contractually-required pension contribution outstanding at the end of
the year is included as an other accrued liability.
Plan Description - School Employees Retirement System (SERS)
Plan Description – College non-teaching employees participate in SERS, a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined
benefit pension plan administered by SERS. SERS provides retirement, disability and survivor benefits, annual costof-living adjustments, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Authority to establish and amend
benefits is provided by Ohio Revised Code Chapter 3309. SERS issues a publicly available, stand-alone financial
report that includes financial statements, required supplementary information and detailed information about SERS’
fiduciary net position. That report can be obtained by visiting the SERS website at www.ohsers.org under
Employers/Audit Resources.
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NOTE 9 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS - (Continued)
Age and service requirements for retirement are as follows:
Eligible to
Retire on or before
August 1, 2017 *

Eligible to
Retire on or after
August 1, 2017

Full Benefits

Any age with 30 years of service credit
Age 65 with 5 years of service credit

Age 67 with 10 years of service credit; or
Age 57 with 30 years of service credit

Actuarially Reduced Benefits

Age 60 with 5 years of service credit
Age 55 with 25 years of service credit

Age 62 with 10 years of service credit; or
Age 60 with 25 years of service credit

*Members with 25 years of service credit as of August 1, 2017, will be included in this plan.

Annual retirement benefits are calculated based on final average salary multiplied by a percentage that varies based
on year of service; 2.2 percent for the first thirty years of service and 2.5 percent for years of service credit over 30.
Final average salary is the average of the highest three years of salary.
One year after an effective benefit date, a benefit recipient is entitled to a three percent cost-of-living adjustment
(COLA). This same COLA is added each year to the base benefit amount on the anniversary date of the benefit.
Funding Policy – Plan members are required to contribute 10 percent of their annual covered salary and the College
is required to contribute 14 percent of annual covered payroll. The contribution requirements of plan members and
employers are established and may be amended by the SERS’ Retirement Board up to statutory maximum amounts
of 10 percent for plan members and 14 percent for employers. The Retirement Board, acting with the advice of the
actuary, allocates the employer contribution rate among four of the System’s funds (Pension Trust Fund, Death
Benefit Fund, Medicare B Fund, and Health Care Fund). For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, the allocation to
pension, death benefits, and Medicare B was 14 percent. None of the 14 percent employer contribution rate was
allocated to the Health Care Fund.
The College’s contractually required contribution to SERS was $957,746 for fiscal year 2016.
$73,753 is reported as an other accrued liability.

Of this amount

Plan Description - State Teachers Retirement System (STRS)
Plan Description – College licensed teachers and other faculty members participate in STRS Ohio, a cost-sharing
multiple-employer public employee retirement system administered by STRS. STRS provides retirement and
disability benefits to members and death and survivor benefits to beneficiaries. STRS issues a stand-alone financial
report that includes financial statements, required supplementary information and detailed information about STRS’
fiduciary net position. That report can be obtained by writing to STRS, 275 E. Broad St., Columbus, OH 43215-3771,
by calling (888) 227-7877, or by visiting the STRS website at www.strsoh.org.
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New members have a choice of three retirement plans; a Defined Benefit (DB) Plan, a Defined Contribution (DC) Plan
and a Combined Plan. Benefits are established by Ohio Revised Code Chapter 3307. The DB plan offers an annual
retirement allowance based on final average salary multiplied by a percentage that varies based on years of service.
Effective August 1, 2015, the calculation was 2.2 percent of final average salary for the five highest years of earnings
multiplied by all years of service. With certain exceptions, the basic benefit is increased each year by two percent of
the original base benefit. For members retiring August 1, 2013, or later, the first two percent is paid on the fifth
anniversary of the retirement benefit. Members are eligible to retire at age 65 with five years of qualifying service
credit, or age 55 with 25 years of service, or 31 years of service regardless of age. Age and service requirements for
retirement increased effective August 1, 2015, and will continue to increase periodically until they reach age 60 with
35 years of service or age 65 with five years of service on August 1, 2026.
The DC Plan allows members to place all their member contributions and 9.5 percent of the 14 percent employer
contributions into an investment account. Investment allocation decisions are determined by the member. The
remaining 4.5 percent of the 14 percent employer rate is allocated to the defined benefit unfunded liability. A member
is eligible to receive a retirement benefit at age 50 and termination of employment. The member may elect to receive
a lifetime monthly annuity or a lump sum withdrawal.
The Combined Plan offers features of both the DB Plan and the DC Plan. In the Combined Plan, member
contributions are allocated among investment choices by the member, and employer contributions are used to fund
the defined benefit payment at a reduced level from the regular DB Plan. The defined benefit portion of the Combined
Plan payment is payable to a member on or after age 65 with five years of services. The defined contribution portion
of the account may be taken as a lump sum payment or converted to a lifetime monthly annuity at age 50.
New members who choose the DC plan or Combined Plan will have another opportunity to reselect a permanent plan
during their fifth year of membership. Members may remain in the same plan or transfer to another STRS plan. The
optional annuitization of a member’s defined contribution account or the defined contribution portion of a member’s
Combined Plan account to a lifetime benefit results in STRS bearing the risk of investment gain or loss on the
account. STRS has therefore included all three plan options as one defined benefit plan for GASB Statement No. 68
reporting purposes.
A DB or Combined Plan member with five or more years of credited service who is determined to be disabled may
qualify for a disability benefit. Eligible survivors of members who die before service retirement may qualify for monthly
benefits. New members on or after July 1, 2013, must have at least ten years of qualifying service credit that apply
for disability benefits. Members in the DC Plan who become disabled are entitled only to their account balance. If a
member of the DC Plan dies before retirement benefits begin, the member’s designated beneficiary is entitled to
receive the member’s account balance.
Funding Policy – Employer and member contribution rates are established by the State Teachers Retirement Board
and limited by Chapter 3307 of the Ohio Revised Code. The statutory maximum employee contribution rate was
increased one percent July 1, 2015, and will increase one percent on July 1, 2016 when it reaches 14 percent. For
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, plan members were required to contribute 13 percent of their annual covered
salary. The College was required to contribute 14 percent; the entire 14 percent was the portion used to fund pension
obligations. The fiscal year 2016 contribution rates were equal to the statutory maximum rates.
The College’s contractually required contribution to STRS was $1,398,035 for fiscal year 2016. Of this amount
$37,811 is reported as an other accrued liability.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions
The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2015, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The College's proportion of the net pension
liability was based on the College's share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all
participating entities. Following is information related to the proportionate share and pension expense:

Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

SERS
$14,953,569

STRS
$32,281,859

Proportion of the Net Pension Liability

0.26206300%

0.11680635%

Pension Expense

$1,030,177

Total
$47,235,428

$768,112

$1,798,289

At June 30, 2016, the College reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions from the following sources:

SERS

STRS

Total

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience

$237,529

$1,517,857

$1,755,386

447,054

0

447,054

957,746

1,398,035

2,355,781

$1,642,329

$2,915,892

$4,558,221

$433,227

$3,209,713

$3,642,940

0

6,018,053

6,018,053

$433,227

$9,227,766

$9,660,993

Changes in proportion and Differences between
College Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions
College contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and Differences between
College Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
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$2,355,781 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pension resulting from College contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending
June 30, 2017. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:
Fiscal Year Ending June 30:
2017
2018
2019
2020
Total

SERS

STRS

Total

($17,454)
(17,454)
(18,549)
304,813

($2,309,047)
(2,309,047)
(2,309,047)
(782,768)

($2,326,501)
(2,326,501)
(2,327,596)
(477,955)

$251,356

($7,709,909)

($7,458,553)

Actuarial Assumptions - SERS
SERS’ total pension liability was determined by their actuaries in accordance with GASB Statement No. 67, as part of
their annual actuarial valuation for each defined benefit retirement plan. Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan
involve estimates of the value of reported amounts (e.g., salaries, credited service) and assumptions about the
probability of occurrence of events far into the future (e.g., mortality, disabilities, retirements, employment
termination). Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual review and potential modifications, as actual
results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by
the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the
historical pattern of sharing benefit costs between the employers and plan members to that point. The projection of
benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of legal or contractual
funding limitations.
Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective. For a newly hired employee, actuarial calculations will take into
account the employee’s entire career with the employer and also take into consideration the benefits, if any, paid to
the employee after termination of employment until the death of the employee and any applicable contingent
annuitant. In many cases actuarial calculations reflect several decades of service with the employer and the payment
of benefits after termination.
Key methods and assumptions used in calculating the total pension liability in the latest actuarial valuation, prepared
as of June 30, 2015, are presented below:
3.25 percent
Wage Inflation
Future Salary Increases, including inflation
4.00 percent to 22 percent
COLA or Ad Hoc COLA
3 percent
Investment Rate of Return
7.75 percent net of investments expense, including inflation
Actuarial Cost Method
Entry Age Normal
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For post-retirement mortality, the table used in evaluating allowances to be paid is the 1994 Group Annuity Mortality
Table set back one year for both men and women. Special mortality tables are used for the period after disability
retirement.
The most recent experience study was completed June 30, 2010.
The long-term return expectation for the Pension Plan Investments has been determined using a building-block
approach and assumes a time horizon, as defined in SERS’ Statement of Investment Policy. A forecasted rate of
inflation serves as the baseline for the return expectation. Various real return premiums over the baseline inflation
rate have been established for each asset class. The long-term expected nominal rate of return has been determined
by calculating a weighted average of the expected real return premiums for each asset class, adding the projected
inflation rate, and adding the expected return from rebalancing uncorrelated asset classes. The target allocation and
best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major assets class are summarized in the following table:
Asset Class
Cash
U. S. Stocks
Non-U. S. Stocks
Fixed Income
Private Equity
Real Assets
Multi-Asset Strategies
Total

Target
Allocation
1.00 %
22.50
22.50
19.00
10.00
10.00
15.00

Long-Term Expected
Real Rate of Return
0.00 %
5.00
5.50
1.50
10.00
5.00
7.50

100.00 %

Discount Rate - The total pension liability was calculated using the discount rate of 7.75 percent. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed the contributions from employers and from the members
would be computed based on contribution requirements as stipulated by State statute. Projected inflows from
investment earning were calculated using the long-term assumed investment rate of return (7.75 percent). Based on
those assumptions, the plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all future benefit payments
of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied
to all periods of projected benefits to determine the total pension liability.
Sensitivity of the College's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate Net pension liability is sensitive to changes in the discount rate, and to illustrate the potential impact the following
table presents the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.75 percent, as well as what each plan’s
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.75
percent), or one percentage point higher (8.75 percent) than the current rate.

College's proportionate share
of the net pension liability

1% Decrease
(6.75%)
$20,735,226
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Discount Rate
(7.75%)
$14,953,569

1% Increase
(8.75%)
$10,084,937
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Actuarial Assumptions - STRS
The total pension liability in the June 30, 2015, actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Inflation
Projected salary increases
Investment Rate of Return
Cost-of-Living Adjustments
(COLA)

2.75 percent
2.75 percent at age 70 to 12.25 percent at age 20
7.75 percent, net of investment expenses
2 percent simple applied as follows: for members retiring before
August 1, 2013, 2 percent per year; for members retiring August 1, 2013,
or later, 2 percent COLA paid on fifth anniversary of retirement date.

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table (Projection 2022—Scale AA) for Males and
Females. Males’ ages are set-back two years through age 89 and no set-back for age 90 and above. Females
younger than age 80 are set back four years, one year set back from age 80 through 89 and not set back from age 90
and above.
Actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015, valuation are based on the results of an actuarial experience study,
effective July 1, 2012.
The 10 year expected real rate of return on pension plan investments was determined by STRS’ investment
consultant by developing best estimates of expected future real rates of return for each major asset class. The target
allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized as follows:
Asset Class
Domestic Equity
International Equity
Alternatives
Fixed Income
Real Estate
Liquidity Reserves
Total

Target
Allocation
31.00 %
26.00
14.00
18.00
10.00
1.00

Long-Term Expected
Real Rate of Return
8.00 %
7.85
8.00
3.75
6.75
3.00

100.00 %

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.75 percent as of June 30, 2015.
The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes member and employer contributions will be
made at the statutory contribution rates in accordance with rate increases described above. For this purpose, only
employer contributions that are intended to fund benefits of current plan members and their beneficiaries are included.
Projected employer contributions that are intended to fund the service costs of future plan members and their
beneficiaries, as well as projected contributions from future plan members, are not included. Based on those
assumptions, STRS’ fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments
to current plan members as of June 30, 2015. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments of 7.75 percent was applied to all periods of projected benefit payment to determine the total pension
liability as of June 30, 2015.

-33-

HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
NOTE 9 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS - (Continued)
Sensitivity of the College's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate The following table presents the College's proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the current
period discount rate assumption of 7.75 percent, as well as what the College's proportionate share of the net pension
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage-point lower (6.75 percent) or onepercentage-point higher (8.75 percent) than the current rate:

College's proportionate share
of the net pension liability

1% Decrease
(6.75%)
$44,841,937

Current
Discount Rate
(7.75%)
$32,281,859

1% Increase
(8.75%)
$21,660,439

NOTE 10 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
School Employees Retirement System
Postemployment Benefits – In addition to a cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension plan the School
Employees Retirement System of Ohio (SERS) administers a postemployment benefit plan.
Health Care Plan – ORC 3309.375 and 3309.69 permit SERS to offer health care benefits to eligible retirees and
beneficiaries. SERS’ Retirement Board reserves the right to change or discontinue any health plan or program.
SERS offers several types of health plans from various vendors, including HMOs, PPOs, Medicare Advantage and
traditional indemnity plans. A prescription drug program is also available to those who elect health coverage. SERS
employs two third-party administrators and a pharmacy benefit manager to manage the self-insurance and
prescription drug plans, respectively.
The ORC provides the statutory authority to fund SERS’ postemployment benefits through employer contributions.
Active members do not make contributions to the postemployment benefit plans.
The Health Care Fund was established under, and is administered in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section
105(e). Each year after the allocation for statutorily required pensions and benefits, the Retirement Board allocates
the remainder of the employer 14 percent contribution to the Health Care Fund to be used to subsidize the cost of
health care coverage. For the year ended June 30, 2016, the health care allocation is 0 percent. An additional health
care surcharge on employers is collected for employees earning less than an actuarially determined minimum
compensation amount, pro-rated if less than a full year of service credit was earned. Statute provides that no
employer shall pay a health care surcharge greater than 2 percent of that employer’s SERS-covered payroll; nor may
SERS collect in aggregate more than 1.5 percent of the total statewide SERS-covered payroll for the health care
surcharge. For fiscal year 2016, the minimum compensation level was established at $23,000. The surcharge,
added to the unallocated portion of the 14 percent employer contribution rate is the total amount assigned to the
Health Care Fund. The College’s contributions assigned to health care for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016,
2015, and 2014 were $70,203, $64,743 and $11,145, respectively; which equaled the required contribution and
surcharge each year.
The SERS Retirement Board establishes the rules for the premiums
themselves and their dependents or for their surviving beneficiaries.
qualified years of service, Medicare eligibility, and retirement status.
is included in its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. The
www.ohsers.org under Employers/Audit Resources.
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State Teachers Retirement System
Plan Description – The College participates in the cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit Health Plan
administered by the State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio (STRS) for eligible retirees who participated in the
defined benefit or combined pension plans offered by STRS. Ohio law authorizes STRS to offer this plan. Benefits
include hospitalization, physicians’ fees, prescription drugs and reimbursement of monthly Medicare Part B premiums.
The Plan is included in the report of STRS which can be obtained by visiting www.strsoh.org or by calling (888) 2277877.
Funding Policy – Ohio Revised Code Chapter 3307 authorizes STRS Ohio to offer the Plan and gives the
Retirement Board authority over how much, if any, of the health care costs will be absorbed by STRS. Active
employee members do not contribute to the Health Care Plan. All benefit recipients, for the most recent year, pay a
monthly premium. Under Ohio law, funding for post-employment health care may be deducted from employer
contributions. For fiscal year 2016, STRS did not allocate any employer contributions to post-employment health
care. The College’s contributions for health care for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, 2015, and 2014 were $0,
$0, and $138,849 respectively. The full amount has been contributed for fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014.
NOTE 11 - OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
A.

Compensated Absences: Vacation and sick leave accumulated by employees has been recorded by the
College. Upon termination of College service, a fully vested employee is entitled to 25% of their accumulated
sick leave not to exceed 45 days for professional staff and 30 days for support staff plus all accumulated
vacation. At June 30, 2016, the long-term liability for vested and probable benefits for vacation and sick leave
totaled $184,926, and the short-term liability totaled $452,484, for a total liability of $637,410.

B.

Insurance Benefits: Medical, prescription, and dental insurance is offered to employees through the South
Central Ohio Insurance Consortium (SCOIC). The College was self-funded with SCOIC effective January 1,
2016 and this arrangement is further described in Note 13 – “Risk Management”. The College provides life
insurance and accidental death and dismemberment insurance to employees through Metlife Insurance
Company.

C.

Deferred Compensation: College employees may participate in the Ohio Public Employees Deferred
Compensation Plan. This plan was created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457.
Participation is on a voluntary payroll deduction basis. The plan permits deferral of compensation until future
years. According to the plan, the deferred compensation is not available until termination, retirement, death
or an unforeseeable emergency.
Under the deferred compensation program, all plan assets are now being held in a trust arrangement for the
exclusive benefit of all participants and their beneficiaries as required by the Small Business Job Protection
Act of 1996. Under this Act, all existing deferred compensation plans were required to establish such a trust
arrangement by January 1, 1999. As a result, the assets of this plan are no longer reflected in the financial
statements of the College.
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NOTE 12 - THE INN AT HOCKING COLLEGE
The Inn at Hocking College (The Inn) was previously operated by the College as a full-time motel, restaurant and
lounge that served the public. Effective August of 2011, the College ceased operation of the motel due to renovations
needed to enhance its quality as a learning lab for its students and a place to stay for its customers. Effective
December of 2011, the College closed down the food venues at The Inn except for catering functions until the
operations could be reassessed relative to the current curriculum and direction of the Hospitality program. Currently
The Inn is being renovated as The Lodge at Hocking College and will serve as a Workforce Training and
Development Center and will reopen in the fall of 2016.
NOTE 13 - RISK MANAGEMENT
The College is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors
and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The College has addressed these various types of risk
and has contracted with Reed and Baur Insurance with coverage through Wright Specialty Insurance and Trident
Insurance Company for liability, property, and fleet insurance. This coverage also provides public officials coverage
for Public Employee Dishonesty of $250,000, Money and Securities of $50,000 and Forgery & Alteration of $250,000.
General liability insurance is maintained in the amount of $1,000,000 for each occurrence and $3,000,000 in the
aggregate and a $50,000 deductible. The coverage includes a separate Educators Legal Liability, Employment
Practices, and Law Enforcement policy and is maintained with limits of liability of $1,000,000 for each occurrence and
$1,000,000 in the aggregate and a $50,000 deductible. The College also carries a $10,000,000 excess liability policy
that provides coverage beyond the general liability and educators legal coverage. Settled claims resulting from these
risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the last three fiscal years. There has been no
significant reductions in coverage from the prior year.
The College maintains fleet insurance in the amount of $1,000,000 for any one accident or loss. The College also
carries a $10,000,000 excess liability policy that provides coverage beyond the fleet coverage.
The College maintains replacement cost insurance on buildings and contents in the amount of $109,413,397 with a
$10,000 deductible per occurrence. The College maintains coverage for Business Income Loss and extra expense
coverage in all college operations. Additionally, the College has a special liquor liability insurance policy in the
amount of $1,000,000 for each occurrence regarding the operations of the lounge, and catering in The Lodge at
Hocking College as well as a separate liquor liability insurance policy in the amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence for
the Rhapsody Restaurant.
The College pays the State Workers’ Compensation System a premium based on a rate per each $100 of total
salaries from the prior calender year. This rate is calculated based on accident history and administrative costs.
The College provides medical, prescription and dental insurance for its employees. Premiums are paid directly to the
South Central Ohio Insurance Consortium (SCOIC). SCOIC contracted with Employee Benefits Management
Corporation to service the claims of SCOIC members.
The College was self funded with the South Central Ohio Insurance Consortium effective January 1, 2016.
The South Central Ohio Insurance Consortium was established to accumulate balances sufficient to self-insure basic
medical and prescription drug coverage and permit excess umbrella coverage for claims over a predetermined level.
The Board’s share and the employees’ share of premium contributions are determined by the negotiated agreement
for certificated employees and by Board action for administrators and classified employees.

-36-
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NOTE 13 - RISK MANAGEMENT – Continued
Premiums are paid to the South Central Ohio Insurance Consortium Fund from the Self Insurance Fund of the
College. The cash balance with the fiscal agent at June 30, 2016, was $217,476. Claims payments are made on an
as-incurred basis by the third party administrator, with the balance of contributions remaining with the fiscal agent of
the Consortium.
The member districts are self insured for medical, dental and pharmacy benefits. The risk for medical, dental and
pharmacy benefits remains with the members. The claims payable will be reported for medical, dental and pharmacy
claims as of June 30, 2016, and cash with fiscal agent for the balance of funds held by the Consortium that covers
medical, dental and pharmacy claims will also be reported.
The claims liability of $434,896 supported at June 30, 2016 is based on an estimate provided by the third party
administrators and the requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 10 which requires
that a liability for unpaid claim costs, including estimates of costs related to incurred but not reported claims, be
reported. The estimate was not affected by incremental claim adjustment expenses and does not include other
allocated or unallocated claim adjustment expenses. The change in claims activity for the past year is presented
below. Comparative information regarding claims is not presented as fiscal year 2016 is the first year the College has
been self-insured.

Fiscal Year

Balance at
Beginning of Year

2016

Current Year
Claims

$0

$1,138,361

Claims
Payments
$703,465

Balance at
End of Year
$434,896

NOTE 14 – CONTINGENCIES
Grants
The College receives financial assistance from federal and state agencies in the form of grants. The receipt of funds
under these programs generally requires compliance with terms and conditions specified in the grant agreements and
is subject to audit by the grantor agencies. Any disallowed claims resulting from such audits could become a liability
to the College. However, in the opinion of management, any such disallowed claims will not have a material adverse
effect on the overall financial position of the College at June 30, 2016.
Litigation
The College is a party to various legal proceedings which seek damages or injunctive relief generally incidental to its
operations and pending projects. The College's management is of the opinion that the ultimate disposition of various
claims and legal proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the overall financial position of the College at
June 30, 2016.
NOTE 15 - JOINTLY GOVERNED ORGANIZATIONS
South Central Ohio Insurance Consortium (SCOIC)
South Central Ohio Insurance Consortium is a regional council of governments organized under Ohio Revised Code
Chapter 167. The SCOIC’s primary purpose and objective is establishing and carrying out a cooperative health
program for its member organizations. The governing board consists of the superintendent or other designee
appointed by each of the members of the SCOIC. The College does not have an ongoing financial interest in or
financial responsibility for the SCOIC other than claims paid on behalf of the College for College employees. To
obtain financial information on the SCOIC, write to the Liberty Union-Thurston Local School District, David Butler, who
serves as Treasurer, at 1108 S. Main Street, Baltimore, Ohio 43105.
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NOTE 16 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES - HOCKING COLLEGE FOUNDATION, INC.
The Hocking College Foundation Inc. was incorporated with the State of Ohio on October 21, 1992 and created for
the purpose of operating exclusively for charitable and educational purposes in support of Hocking Technical College,
a state institution of higher learning, authorized and existing under Chapter 3357 of the Ohio Revised Code.
The Internal Revenue Service granted a foundation status classification under 501(a) of the IRS Regulations as an
organization described in Section 501(c)(3), granting the Foundation tax-exempt status. The initial five year ruling
period ending June 30, 1997, was updated on November 6, 1997 with the IRS reaffirming the Foundation's exempt
status under Section 501(a) as described in 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting and Presentation
The financial statements of the Hocking College Foundation, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as "the Foundation"), have
been prepared on the accrual basis whereby all revenues are recorded when earned and all expenses are recorded
when they have been reduced to a legal or contractual obligation to pay.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Although
the Foundation is supposed to report under the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) standards, the
financial statements have been presented in accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB), including Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for
State and Local Governments, and Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion
and Analysis - for Public Colleges and Universities, issued in June and November, 1999, to conform to the College’s
financial statement presentation. There are terminology differences between the GASB’s pronouncements and the
FASB pronouncements, however, no modifications have been made to the Foundations financial information reported
in the College’s financial report.
Cash and Investments
All cash received by the Foundation is deposited in a central bank account. During fiscal year 2016, investments
were limited to certificates of deposit with local institutions, money market accounts, corporate fixed income securities,
mutual funds, and stocks.
Except for nonparticipating investment contracts, investments are reported at fair value which is based on quoted
market prices. Nonparticipating investment contracts such as repurchase agreements and nonnegotiable certificates
of deposit are reported at cost.
For purposes of the presentation on the Statement of Net Position, investments with an original maturity of three
months or less at the time they are purchased by the Foundation are considered to be cash equivalents.
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NOTE 16 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES - HOCKING COLLEGE FOUNDATION, INC. – Continued
Capital Assets
Capital assets with a unit cost of $5,000 or greater are recorded at cost at the date of acquisition, or if donated, at fair
market value at the date of donation. The Foundation has no significant infrastructure assets. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset and is not allocated to the
functional expense categories. Expenses for construction in progress are capitalized as incurred. Interest expense
relating to construction is capitalized net of interest income earned on resources set aside for this purpose.
Estimated
Useful Life (Years)

Asset Description
Buildings and Improvements

20-50

Cash and Investments
The following information classifies deposits and investments by categories of risk as defined in GASB Statement No.
3, "Deposits with Financial Institutions, Investments (including Repurchase Agreements) and Reverse Repurchase
Agreements" and GASB Statement No. 40, "Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures".
Deposits: Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Foundation's deposits may not be
returned. All deposits are collateralized with eligible securities in amounts equal to at least 105% of the carrying value
of the deposits. Such collateral, as permited by the Ohio Revised Code, is held in single financial institution collateral
pools at Federal Reserve Banks, or at member banks of the federal reserve system, in the name of the respective
depository bank and pledged as a pool of collateral against all of the public deposits it holds or as specific collateral
held at the Federal Reserve Bank in the name of the Foundation.
At June 30, 2016, the carrying amount of all Foundation deposits was $1,197,743. Based on the criteria described in
GASB Statement No. 40, "Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures", as of June 30, 2016, the Foundation's bank
balance of $1,199,118 was either insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or collateralized with pooled
securities held by the pledging financial institution in the manner described above.
Investments: As of June 30, 2016, the Foundation had the following investments and maturities:

Investment Type

Fair Value

Common Stock

Maturity

$74,373

< 1 Year

8,527

< 1 Year

Mutual Funds

135,903

< 1 Year

Money Market Funds

133,866

< 1 Year

Corporate Fixed Income

Total

$352,669

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates and according to
state law, the Foundation's investment policy limits investment portfolio maturities to five years or less.
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NOTE 16 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES - HOCKING COLLEGE FOUNDATION, INC. – Continued
Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.
The Foundation’s investment policy does not address credit risk beyond the requirements of the Ohio Revised Code.
The credit ratings of the Foundation’s investments at June 30, 2016 are as follows:

Credit Rating (S&P)
A1

Common Stock
$15,984

A2

58,389

Total

$74,373
Fixed Income
Securities

Credit Rating
Unrated

$8,527

Credit Rating

Mutual Funds

Unrated

$135,903
Money Market
Funds
$44,450
89,416
$133,866

Credit Rating (S&P)
A
A2
Total

Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
Foundation will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of
an outside party. All of the Foundation’s securities are either insured and registered in the name of the Foundation or
at least registered in the name of the Foundation. The Foundation has no investment policy dealing with investment
custodial credit risk beyond the requirements in the state statute that prohibit the payment for investments prior to the
delivery of the securities representing such investments to the treasurer or qualified trustee.
Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a
government’s investment in a single issuer. The Foundation places no limit on the amount that may be invested in
any one issuer. The Foundation holds 21.1% of investments in common stock, 2.4% in fixed income securities,
38.5% in mutual funds and 38.0% in money market funds.
The classification of cash and cash equivalents, and investments in the financial statements is based on criteria set
forth in GASB Statement No. 9, "Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Non-Expendable Trust Funds and
Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting”. For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash
and cash equivalents include investments of the cash management pool and investments with maturities of three
months or less at the time of their purchase by the Foundation.
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NOTE 16 - COMPONENT UNIT DISCLOSURES - HOCKING COLLEGE FOUNDATION, INC. – Continued
Other Receivables
At June 30, 2016, the Foundation had pledges of future donations in the amount of $84,474. These pledges have
been reported as Other Receivables as of June 30, 2016 and will be received in future fiscal years. These pledges
have been made by donors of the Foundation and the Foundation expects to receive the full amount of the pledges.
Pledges receivable are unconditional promises to give and are recognized at the present value of future cash flows.
No allowance for uncollectible promises to give is considered necessary. All pledges are unconditional promises to
give with the following due dates:

Amount
Within One Year

$37,000

One to Five Years

36,444

Six to Ten Years

11,030

Total

$84,474

Capital Assets
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2016 was as follows:

Balance at June
30, 2015

Additions

Balance at June
30, 2016

Reductions

Nondepreciable Captial Assets:
Land

$78,880

$0

$0

$78,880

2,148,528

0

0

2,148,528

2,227,408

0

0

2,227,408

Depreciable Capital Assets:
Buildings and Improvements
Total Cost of Capital Assets
Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Buildings and Improvements

(843,827)

(36,525)

0

(880,352)

Total Accumulated Depreciation

(843,827)

(36,525)

0

(880,352)

($36,525)

$0

Capital Assets, Net

$1,383,581
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HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Schedule of the College's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liablity
Last Three Fiscal Years(1)(2)

2015

2014

2013

School Employees Retirement System of Ohio
College's Proportion of the Net Pension Liability

0.262063%

College's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
College's Covered-Employee Payroll
College's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
as a Percentage of it's Covered-Employee Payroll

0.251961%

0.251961%

$14,953,569

$12,751,603

$14,983,312

$7,895,514

$7,960,643

$6,928,577

189.39%

160.18%

216.25%

69.16%

71.70%

65.52%

College's Proportion of the Net Pension Liability

0.11680635%

0.14311894%

0.14311894%

College's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

$32,281,859

$34,811,479

$41,467,206

College's Covered-Employee Payroll

$12,092,450

$14,952,992

$17,223,800

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability

State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio

College's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
as a Percentage of it's Covered-Employee Payroll
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability

266.96%

232.81%

240.76%

72.10%

74.71%

69.30%

(1) Information prior to 2013 is not available.
(2) Amounts presented as of the College's measurement date which is the prior fiscal year end.
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Schedule of the College Contributions
Last Ten Fiscal Years

2016

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

School Employees Retirement System of Ohio
Contractually Required Contribu ions

$957,746

$1,040,629

$1,103,345

$958,915

$883,954

$930,877

$1,045,394

$671,348

$712,255

$707,963

Contributions in Relation to he Contractually Required Contribution

(957,746)

(1,040,629)

(1,103,345)

(958,915)

(883,954)

(930,877)

(1,045,394)

(671,348)

(712,255)

(707,963)

Contribution Deficiency (Excess)

College Covered-Employee Payroll
Contributions as a Percentage of Covered-Employee Payroll

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$6,841,043

$7,895,514

$7,960,643

$6,928,577

$6,572,149

$7,405,545

$7,720,783

$6,822,642

$7,253,106

$6,628,867

14.00%

13.18%

13.86%

13 84%

13.45%

12.57%

13.54%

9.84%

9.82%

10.68%

State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio
Contractually Required Contribu ions

$1,398,035

Contributions in Relation to he Contractually Required Contribution (1,398,035)
Contribution Deficiency (Excess)

College Covered-Employee Payroll
Contributions as a Percentage of Covered-Employee Payroll

$1,692,943

$1,943,889

$2,239,094

$2,344,042

$2,447,343

$2,532,719

$2,238,008

$2,267,611

$2,224,451

(1,692,943)

(1,943,889)

(2,239,094)

(2,344,042)

(2,447,343)

(2,532,719)

(2,238,008)

(2,267,611)

(2,224,451)

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$9,985,964

$12,092,450

$14,952,992

$17,223,800

$18,031,092

$18,825,715

$19,482,454

$17,215,446

$17,443,162

$17,111,162

14.00%

14.00%

13.00%

13 00%
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13.00%

13.00%

13.00%

13 00%

13.00%

13.00%

HOCKING TECHNICAL COLLEGE
Schedule of Federal Awards Revenues and Expenditures
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

FEDERAL GRANTOR
Pass-Through Grantor
Program Title

Pass-Through
Entity
Number

Grant
Year

Federal
CFDA
Number

N/A

2016

10.575

Revenues

Expenditures

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Pass-Through Rural Action, Inc.:
Farm to School Grant Program
Total United States Department of Agriculture
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
Direct from Federal Government:
Student Financial Assistance Cluster:
Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants
Federal Work-Study Program
Federal Pell Grant Program
Federal Pell Grant Program
Federal Pell Grant Program
Federal Direct Student Loans
Federal Direct Student Loans
Total Student Financial Assistance Cluster

$36,736

$36,736

36,736

36,736

136,502
219,890
492
6,605,929
598,705
553
14,040,381
21,602,452

136,502
219,890
492
6,605,929
598,705
553
14,040,381
21,602,452

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

2016
2015-2016
2015
2016
2017
2015
2016

84.007
84.033
84.063
84.063
84.063
84.268
84.268

TRIO Cluster:
TRIO - Student Support Services
TRIO - Student Support Services
TRIO - Talent Search
TRIO - Talent Search
Total TRIO Cluster

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

2016
2015
2015
2016

84.042A
84.042A
84.044A
84.044A

209,371
36,101
28,359
160,454
434,285

209,371
36,101
28,359
160,454
434,285

Pass-Through State Department of Education:
Career and Technical Education - Basic Grants to States
Career and Technical Education - Basic Grants to States
Total Career and Technical Education - Basic Grants to States

3L90
3L90

2016
2015

84.048
84.048

193,947
44,120
238,067

193,947
44,120
238,067

22,274,804

22,274,804

$22,311,540

$22,311,540

Total United States Department of Education
Total Federal Financial Assistance

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Federal Awards Revenues and Expenditures are an integral part of the Schedule.
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NOTE 1 – Basis of Accounting
The accompanying Schedule of Federal Awards Revenues and Expenditures (the Schedule) includes the
federal award activity of Hocking Technical College (the College) under programs of the federal government for
the year ended June 30, 2016. The information on this Schedule is prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents
only a selected portion of the operations of the College, it is not intended to and does not present the financial
position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the College.
NOTE 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Principles
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.Such expenditures are
recognized following the cost principles contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, wherein
certain types of expenditures may or may not be allowable or may be limited as to reimbursement. The
College has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform
Guidance.
NOTE 3 – Federal Direct Loan Program
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, the College processed $14,040,934 of new loans under the
Federal Direct Loan Program, CFDA #84.268. The College is responsible only for certain administrative duties
with respect to federal guaranteed student loan programs.
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based
on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards
Independent Auditor’s Report
Board of Trustees
Hocking Technical College
3301 Hocking Parkway
Nelsonville, Ohio 45764
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type
activities and the discretely presented component unit of Hocking Technical College, Athens County, (the
College) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the College’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated
December 23, 2016.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the College’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the College’s internal control. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the College’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of
the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
may exist that have not been identified.

Millhuff-Stang, CPA, Inc.
1428 Gallia Street / Portsmouth, Ohio 45662 / Phone: 740.876.8548
45 West Second Street, Suite D / Chillicothe, Ohio 45601 / Phone: 740.851.4978
Fax: 888.876.8549
natalie@millhuffstangcpa.com / roush@millhuffstangcpa.com
www.millhuffstangcpa.com
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Hocking Technical College
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards
Page 2
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the College’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported
under Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Natalie Millhuff-Stang, CPA, CITP
President/Owner
Millhuff-Stang, CPA, Inc.
Portsmouth, Ohio
December 23, 2016
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Report on Compliance For Each Major Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the
Uniform Guidance
Independent Auditor’s Report
Board of Trustees
Hocking Technical College
3301 Hocking Parkway
Nelsonville, Ohio 45764
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
We have audited the Hocking Technical College’s, Athens County (the College) compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect
on the College’s major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2016. The College’s major federal program is
identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned
costs.
Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of its
federal awards applicable to its federal programs.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the College’s major federal program based on our
audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards
and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material
effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the
College’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major federal program.
However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the College’s compliance.
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
In our opinion, the College complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on the College’s major federal program for the year ended June
30, 2016.

Millhuff-Stang, CPA, Inc.
1428 Gallia Street / Portsmouth, Ohio 45662 / Phone: 740.876.8548
45 West Second Street, Suite D / Chillicothe, Ohio 45601 / Phone: 740.851.4978
Fax: 888.876.8549
natalie@millhuffstangcpa.com / roush@millhuffstangcpa.com
www.millhuffstangcpa.com
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
Management of the College is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our audit of
compliance, we considered the College’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could
have a direct and material effect on the major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for the major federal
program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the College’s internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis.
A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than
a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not
been identified.
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance.
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Natalie Millhuff-Stang, CPA, CITP
President/Owner
Millhuff-Stang, CPA, Inc.
Portsmouth, Ohio
December 23, 2016
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Hocking Technical College
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results
Financial Statements
Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements audited
were prepared in accordance with GAAP:
Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?
Federal Awards
Internal control over major program(s):
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs:
Any auditing findings disclosed that are required to be reported in
accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?
Identification of major program(s):

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs:
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Unmodified

No
None reported
No

No
None reported
Unmodified
No
Student Financial Assistance
Cluster: Federal Supplemental
Educational Opportunity Grants
(CFDA 84.007), Federal WorkStudy Program (CFDA 84.033),
Federal Pell Grant Program (CFDA
84.063), Federal Direct Student
Loans (CFDA 84.268)
Type A: >$750,000
Type B: all others
Yes

Section II – Financial Statement Findings
None
Section III – Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs
None
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CLERK OF THE BUREAU
CERTIFIED
JANUARY 31, 2017

88 East Broad Street, Fourth Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215‐3506
Phone: 614‐466‐4514 or 800‐282‐0370
Fax: 614‐466‐4490
www.ohioauditor.gov

Hocking College Cannabis Testing Laboratory – Organizational Chart
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Part I: Experience in Business
Hocking College – Proven Experience in Teaching & Business
Hocking College was founded in 1968 with a focus on Environmental Studies and
giving students a hands-on learning experience at an affordable price. At
Hocking College, we focus on providing our students with an education that they
will be able to use in their real-world careers. As a public institute of higher
education, Hocking Technical Colleges’ primary business is education and
workforce development. The college has a proven track record collaborating with
businesses to ensure student training experiences provide skills directly
applicable to real-world jobs.
Hocking College is part of the Ohio Association of Community Colleges. The Ohio
Association of Community Colleges (OACC) are dedicated to the advancement
and implementation of sound policy and initiatives that work to ensure the
success of the more than 300,000 community college students in Ohio. Rooted
in the belief that every person should have access to a high-quality college
education, the OACC supports the mission of the state’s 23 community colleges
to provide programming in technical education, lower-division baccalaureate
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education, developmental education, and continuing education in our local
communities. The network can provide a framework for expansion of medical
cannabis training and medical lab testing satellite facilities.
The Hocking College Strategic Action Plan for 2017-2022 states the college’s
mission - We serve as a pathway to prosperity, teaching and inspiring all who
seek to learn, growing careers and changing lives

Workforce Development & Training
Hocking College offers the Associate of Arts (AA), Associate of Science (AS),
Associate of Applied Science AAS), Associate of Individualized Study (AIS), and
the Associate of Technical Studies, (ATS) degrees in 26 certificates and 64
associate programs. The college continues the process to explore, establishing
new programs that are in demand and terminating programs that are no longer
viable and have low enrollments, including those defined in Jobs Ohio research.
Next year, Hocking College will offer a new laboratory sciences degree program.
The curriculum, for the proposed Associates degree of Applied Science in
Laboratory Sciences, will be designed with materials cumulatively building
Laboratory Sciences in coursework according to NAACLS (National Accrediting
Agency for Clinical Laboratory Science) requirements and standards.
The new degree program will offer four majors; medical laboratory, forensic
laboratory, chemical laboratory and medical cannabis laboratory. The
specialization in cannabis laboratory sciences is the first of its kind in the US, and
will mutually-benefit the medical cannabis testing lab. These associate
programs prepare students for careers in laboratory sciences.
Hocking College was recently awarded a $1.4MM grant from federal government
to broaden its workforce development programs.

Laboratory Sciences Job Market & Creating Ohio Based Jobs
The shortage of qualified laboratory professionals is not a new story; it is also
one that won’t go away. As the aging population and expanded health insurance
coverage increase the demand for healthcare services, the need for qualified
laboratory professionals is expected to grow. While the demand for medical
laboratory professionals is growing, the number of new students graduating
from clinical laboratory programs is still declining, partly as the result of program
closures. The nation’s labs need to fill more than 7,000 jobs annually, but U.S.
clinical laboratory education programs are producing only about 6,000 qualified
laboratory professionals each year, according to the National Accrediting
Agency for Clinical Laboratory Sciences (NAACLS). School closings in the last 15
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years have reduced the number of medical laboratory scientists (MLS) and
medical laboratory technologists (MLT) being trained annually. Since 1990, the
number of laboratory training programs has dropped from 720 to 608, a
decrease of more than 15% (Source). Forensics and Chemical lab technicians
follow the same trend.

Satellite Campuses & Operating Businesses
Hocking College operates three wholly owned satellite facilities and operating
business.
The Hocking College Perry Campus - located in New Lexington, Ohio. The Hocking
College Perry Campus, situated just west of the city of New Lexington. The
campus is located approximately 55 miles southeast of Columbus and is
accessible by several state highways.
The Hocking College Logan Campus - located in Logan, Ohio. The Hocking
College Logan Campus approximately 46 miles southeast of Columbus and is
accessible by several state highways, including State Route 33.
The Lodge at Hocking College – located in Nelsonville, Ohio. The Lodge’s primary
purpose is to develop, teach and administer the Hotel & Restaurant
Management division of Culinary School at Hocking College. This as an active,
operating business where students both work and train.

State-of-Art Biomedical Laboratory Facilities
Trent Debruin, the Hocking College architect, has experience transforming an old
manufacturing plant into a world-class medical laboratory. Trent designed the
facility relocation, and renovations for the Quidel Corporation is an
Immunoassay & molecular diagnostics test manufacturer in Athens, Ohio. This
facility has six ISO 4 clean rooms and is approximately 15,000 sq. ft. in size. Trent
has also submitted “Request for Qualifications (Architect / Engineer)” forms for
the state of Ohio, available online here.
Regarding the laboratory sciences, Hocking College has years of experience
crafting and incorporating real-world experience into practical training courses
with applied laboratory experience. Here are a few offerings that provide
laboratory training: Medical Assistant, BIOS-2268 Ichthyology, BIOS-1201
Micro/Patho/Pharmacology, BIOS-1202 PN2RN Micro/Patho/Pharmacology.

Form Q - Page 3 of 10

Selective Administration Programs
Hocking College uses a Selective Administration process for pre-qualification of
students for Allied Health (nursing) and Public Safety (law enforcement)
programs, including background and criminal checks. This existing process will be
reviewed to assure full compliance with background checks for all who may
significantly influence or control the activities of a testing laboratory as part of
the process for obtaining an employee ID card from the Department of
Commerce.

Transportation & Logistics
The Hocking College Commercial Truck Driver Training School offers truck driver
training in a variety of course models to fit any timeline. Training program
courses vary in intensity and duration and can be utilized by new students,
existing students, and corporate sponsors. Tuition includes drug
screening, CDL permit, CDL test and license fees, and all necessary truck driver
training materials and equipment. Faculty from this program will be used to
assist the testing laboratory in developing and implementing the lab sample
process and procedures.

Business Experience of Lab’s Scientific Director
Hocking College hired Dr. Jonathan Cachat, PhD to lead the college’s new
laboratory sciences program. Born and raised in Ohio, our lab director has a
Ph.D. in neuroscience, specializing in psychopharmacology from Tulane University
and started his undergraduate studies at Denison University in Granville, Ohio.
Dr. Cachat has four years’ experience in running a federal Drug Enforcement
Administration (DEA) approved, Level 1 laboratory at a major university. This
included including starting the lab, developing the lab operations and business
process, directing the laboratory research, and hiring and managing students.
Several of these students are working in laboratories, including a medical
cannabis laboratory, and others have pursued MD/PhD programs/degrees.
Dr. Cachat is also an internationally recognized data scientist from his
breakthrough research methodology. He provided drug discovery efforts with a
more cost-effective and efficient way to do investigational pharmacology
research by replacing mammals with zebrafish. He is the author of two books on
how zebrafish offer an opportunity to perform steadfast scientific investigations
in a robust and high-throughput manner for behavioral neuroscience research.
This included, but not limited to, research on heroin, lysergic acid diethylamide
(LSD), marijuana (cannabis), 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (ecstasy),
methaqualone, and peyote.
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Dr. Cachat’s post-doctoral work was with University of California, Davis. This
work involved developing strategies and programs for the collection, description,
organization, normalization, storage, preservation, integration and visualization
of data across the spectrum of neuroscience programs on campus.
Recently, Dr. Cachat raised $3M in research funding to create a sustainable
process for growing medical cannabis, named DSS SunGrown Indoor. The
results include dramatic reductions in electricity and water consumption, and a
better-quality product. An article in Marijuana.com entitled “Sunlight Will
Change Indoor Cannabis Cultivation Forever” describes Dr. Cachat as “One of
the brightest minds cannabis has to offer.” Perhaps the most important aspect
of the research is lowering the carbon footprint of this rapidly growing industry.
Dr. Cachat is friends with the owners of several of the test labs in California and
has visited and advised some on best lab practices.
Dr. Cachat was a founding member of the California Growers Association, was
an advisor to the Sacramento NORML organization, was a data scientist with the
Neuroscience Information Framework. The depth of his knowledge and
experience can be seen at www.jcachat.com, including a comprehensive
curriculum vitae.

Vision, Core Values, strategic approach
Given business experience above, we are approaching the testing lab with core
principles.
Mission
The Hocking College Medical Cannabis Testing Lab serves the medical cannabis
community by providing the best chemical analysis and reporting of cannabis
products.
Business Statement

•
•
•
•
•

We provide our customers with analytical results of the highest accuracy
and precision, in the timeliest possible manner, to assist them in making
informed decisions
We work only in ways that are safe both for our workers and the
environment
We provide state of the art educational opportunities for students
We provide superior consulting and research services for our customers
Provide patients with the most trusted results/products
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Business Strategy

•
•
•
•
•

Provide the medical cannabis tests required by law/
Offer addition testing to enable consumers to better understand all the
cannabis product components.
Leverage state of the art lab equipment and business information systems
Operate under world class Good Laboratory Practices and ISO17025
requirements for the competence of testing and calibration laboratories.
Enable an educational framework across the state to facilitate medical
cannabis research and workforce creation efforts across Ohio.

Part II: Business Model
The following diagram illustrates the Ohio Medical Cannabis supply chain – from
seed to sale.

Figure 1 - Business Supply Chain as it relates to testing Business Model

We provide analytical testing services to Ohio licensed medical cannabis
cultivators, processors & dispensaries. A complete supply chain overview is
provided below illustrating the Ohio medical cannabis testing requirements to be
performed by the laboratory.
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Our business model follows the medical cannabis business supply chain testing
requirements as laid out in Ohio law. We have annotated each testing point
based on who the sample is received from and where its destination will be. For
example, the 7-panel flower test from cultivators to dispensaries is marked as CD Tests.
We anticipate C-D Tests will represent 30% of total testing needs, C-P Tests
70%, Processor Tests 50%, and P-D Tests 100%.

Likelihood of Success
The Hocking College Medical Cannabis Testing Lab likelihood of success, includes
the following:
1. Raising $3M in funding from endowment/donations, state loans and/or
grants, and/or a Department of Commerce approved business model for
that allows private investors
2. Depends on patients receiving recommendations from physicians
3. Scientific acumen and experience
4. Business Process and Quality Assurance acumen and experience
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5. Develop the brand as “The lab you can trust”
6. Provide exceptional service to the cultivators and processors (time and
accuracy) and medical cannabis patients
7. Use a software platform that “owns the data” that can be shared across
the Ohio Institute of Higher Education research network
Hocking College has the have team, facility and the ability to deliver a worldclass medical cannabis testing laboratory for the State of Ohio.
Hocking College is aware of and planning or was to have adequate capacity to
service potentially all the Ohio medical cannabis testing laboratories demands
from seed to sale. This includes multiple sets of equipment and the option to run
multiple shifts.
The are several unknown variables that will dictate the capacity needs, including
the actual start dates of growers and the grow cycles they deploy that impact
the number of batches. The number of lots from processors is also unknown and
can vary widely based on the business decisions made by the processors.

Generating Ohio Based Jobs
Hocking College is seeking additional scoring consideration on our Ohio Based
Jobs and economic development plan. Hocking College supports the Governor’s
Office of Workforce Transformation Initiatives, including Industry Workforce
Alliance efforts.
Hocking College is driven by the same focus on Ohio Based Jobs effort. Hocking
College’s entire focus is on in-demand careers, including Medical and Clinical
Laboratory Technologist (over 200) and Medical and Clinical Laboratory
Technicians (over 300) (Source). A search of the Ohio Mean Jobs website with
the search of Job Title containing “laboratory” resulted in over 12 pages of
approximately 300 open jobs.
Hocking College also provides opportunities for high school students to receive
college credits with the College Course Placement (CCP) initiative.
The City of Nelsonville and Hocking College elected officials, and State
Representatives are very excited about the potential of a $3M-$5M investment
in the area and an initial job creation of 8-12 new jobs and the potential to add
more jobs over time.
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Cannabis Laboratory Job Market
Job search sites have been publishing new openings, almost daily, for cannabis
laboratory around the nation. Hocking College, as potentially the only associate
degree program in the United States, expects enrollment in increase with out-ofstate students.

Organizational Chart
All principal officers and board members of Hocking College are over 21 years of
age.
The names, address, date, of principal officers and board members of Hocking
College can be provided upon request if needed.
Dr. Jonathan Cachat, the suggested Lab Science director, currently resides at
38700 French Creek Road, in Avon, Ohio. Dr. Cachat’s date of birth is Sep. 5,
1985.
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Relationship with Local Regulators
Proposed Facility Location & Ownership
Hocking College owns the property.
Hocking College has met with local regulators and elected officials as part of the
application process. In addition, Hocking College has met with their County and
State officials to discuss their plans for a cannabis testing lab.
Compliance with Zoning, Permitting & Use
Hocking College is in compliance with local ordinances, rules and regulations.
A Zoning and Land Use Permit for a medical cannabis testing laboratory has
been issued and included in the Form H response.
A building permit will be applied for after receipt of a certificate of operation is
received.
The location is in compliance with the 500-foot restrictions.
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Part I: Analytical Techniques, Protocols, & Instrumentation
and Proposed Analytical Services
HB523 & Department of Commerce testing laboratory rules and regulations
establish several safety and potency analytic panels across Ohio’s medical
cannabis supply chain (Figure 1).
Figure 1 - Ohio Medical Cannabis Supply Chain. Overview of analytic panels & tests.

We refer to each analytic panel based on the source and destination of each
product to be tested. For example, the analytics performed on raw flower sold
by a cultivator directly to a dispensary requires a C-D analytic panel. Within each
panel, there is a distinct set of required tests with some overlap in the equipment
and protocols. Therefore, a “panel” refers to a set of experimental tests
performed on each sample. For example, flower moving from a cultivator to a
dispensary is the C-D Panel and consists of 7 distinct tests.

Form R - Page 2 of 35 – Back to Top

Equipment, Instrumentation & Protocols
Protocols and Methods are established following "Cannabis Inflorescence:
Standards of Identity, Analysis, and Quality Control" (2014) monograph
published by the AHP.
20 - Foreign Matter Inspection (FMI) test
The purpose of an FMI test is to visually inspect the flower, extract or product
sample for any contamination. A microscope is used to examine the sample for
large foreign particles such as hair, insects, or mold colonies. Rule of thumb, If it
looks out of place, it probably is. This test will result in several high-resolution
digital pictures taken at various levels of magnification. For flower inspections,
we also plan to evaluate and report on trichrome morphology. The shape and
color of trichrome indicate when a plant has reached its maximum cannabinoid
and terpenoid potential.
The laboratory will have several 11X-80X Industrial Inspection Microscopes with
integrated high-resolution digital cameras for FMI tests (example). Foreign
Matter Inspection tests will take place during sample preparation before any
other downstream tests are performed.
30 - Moisture Content & 35 - Water Activity (Aw) test
These tests quantify moisture levels, or amount of water, present in herbal
products. The purpose is two-fold. First, to accurately report the percentage of
cannabinoids and other constituents you need to know how much of the
sample’s weight is attributed to water. Secondly, water activity is directly
correlated with the ability of microorganisms to survive on the plant. Water
activity levels below AW 0.65 eliminate the possibility of microbial growth (APHL
- Guidance for State Medical Cannabis Testing Programs - 2013).
Hocking College’s testing facility will use equipment like those below for these
tests:
•

Heated Balance - Satorius MA37 Moisture Analyzer

•

Portable Water Activity System - Rotronic HP23-AW-A

40 - Cannabinoid
The mandated cannabinoids potency measures are for THCA, Δ9-THC, CBDA,
CBD, and CBN. A total of five cannabinoids, including the acidic forms, which
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requires that concentrations be quantified with an HPLC machine that does not
heat the sample before measurement as GC does.
Given the market interest and research value, our testing lab plans to measure
additional cannabinoid concentrations, such as Δ8-THC, THCV, CBDV, CBG,
CBGA, CBC. These measurements can be taken during the same HPLC run and
only require additional standards, not additional test runs.
Hocking College’s testing facility will use an HPLC w DAD/UV machine for the
measurement of cannabinoids (ex. Shimadzu Cannabis Analyzer for Potency,
Shimadzu HPLC iSeries). Selection of HPLC for cannabinoid quantification is
supported by AHP Cannabis Inflorescence monograph (2014).
HPLC-DAD/UV Protocols will be adopted from Mudge (2017), Giese (2015),
Brighenti (2017), Citti (2017), Wang et al (2017).
Our laboratory will have a portable cannabis analyzer like Quantum Analytics’
G908 Portable GC-MS Analyzer, LightWave Science’s Cannalyzer-420, or
MyDX’s Analyzer 2.0 + CannaDx™ Sensor Kit. We plan to equip our drivers with
these analyzers to provide operations with a general idea of the cannabinoid &
terpene profile immediately, on-site during batch sample pick-up. Cultivators &
Processors will appreciate this information because waiting days for results can
be a frustrating situation. This on-site analysis will not be the certified results;
those will be provided by validated equipment and protocols at the lab.
45 -Terpenoid Profile
While not mandated, measuring a flower, extract or products terpene profile is
critical to understanding and improving treatment of patients. Without this
information, our knowledge of cannabis will be significantly handicapped. The
science surrounding cannabis is rapidly developing whereby understanding the
chemical profile (cannabinoids and terpenoid) is considered essential to strain
identification and expected effects for the patients. Terpenoids have distinct
therapeutic effects, and they need to be matched with cannabinoid therapeutic
effects to maximize cannabis’s therapeutic benefits.
We plan to measure up to 19 terpenes including:
•

(-)-a-Bisabolol (23089-26-1)

•

beta-Caryophyllene (87-44-5)

•

Camphene (79-92-5)

•

Geraniol (106-24-1)

•

delta-3-Carene (13466-78-9)

•

(-)-Guaiol (489-86-1)
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•

alpha-Humulene (6753-98-6)

•

Nerolidol (7212-44-4)

•

p-Isopropyltoluene (p-cymene)
(99-87-6)

•

Ocimene (13877-91-3)

•

alpha-Pinene (80-56-8)

•

(-)-Isopulegol (89-79-2)

•

(-)-beta-Pinene (18172-67-3)

•

d-Limonene (5989-27-5)

•

alpha-Terpinene (99-86-5)

•

Linalool (78-70-6)

•

gamma-Terpinene (99-85-4)

•

beta-Myrcene (123-35-3)

•

Terpinolene (586-62-9)

Hocking College’s testing facility will use GC-MS w HS equipment. Potential
choices are Shimadzu GCMS-QP2020 w HS-20 & NIST spectral library or
GCMS-QP2020 Gas Chromatograph Mass Spectrometer. Our experimental
protocol will be adopted from validated methods presented in Fischedick (2010),
Jin et al (2017), Qiu et al (2017), with additional reference from GC-MS HS
Terpene Analysis Protocol.
Compliance with ISO/IEC 17025 accreditation requires that standard reagents
be certified reference materials (CRM). Our testing lab will only use CRM certified
standards which are available from several sources: Sigma-Aldrich, Restek &
Cayman Chemical.
50 - Microbial (Mold) test
Testing for the presence of microbial (mold) contamination is essential for
patient safety. For microbial contamination analysis, a sample provided to a
testing laboratory shall be deemed to have passed if it satisfies the standards
outlined in Table 9 of the "Cannabis Inflorescence: Standards of Identity,
Analysis, and Quality Control" (2014) AHP monograph.
The lab will be using Rapid and Low-Cost Microarray Microbial Screening Test
developed by PathogenDx. This method has been certified under ISO 17025. The
PatogenDX bacterial reaction quantifies E. Coli, Salmonella, Enterobacteriaceae,
and STEC E. Coli. This methodology can provide results within 6 hours, rather
than 24 hours+ required by plate count methods.
For validation purposes, the lab will also have 3M pertifilm plates. Petrifilms have
a ready-made culture medium that contains a cold-water-soluble gelling agent,
nutrients, indicator dye and a built-in grid to provide contrast and help facilitate
counting colony forming units (CFU) per gram of sample.
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This laboratory’s protocol for microbial testing will be adopted from Holmes et al
(2015), Upton et al (2014), Daley et al (2013).
60 - Mycotoxins (Fungus) test
The lab will be using Rapid and Low-Cost Microarray Microbial Screening Test
developed by PathogenDx. The method has been certified under ISO 17025. The
PatogenDX fungal reaction quantifies Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus fumigatus,
Aspergillus niger, and Aspergillus terrus Penicillium.
Testing for the presence of Mycotoxins (fungus) contamination is necessary for
patient safety. For mycotoxin contamination analysis, a sample provided to a
testing laboratory shall be deemed to have passed if it satisfies the standards
found in Table 9 of the "Cannabis Inflorescence: Standards of Identity, Analysis,
and Quality Control" (2014) AHP monograph.
Our fungal protocols will be adopted from the validated methods presented in
Upton et al (2014), Daley et al (2013).
70 - Heavy Metals test
Our lab will use Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS)
method for detection of heavy metals. For example, Shimadzu ICPMS-2030 or
PerkinElmer NexION 2000 B ICP Mass Spectrometer.
This required test is for detecting Arsenic (< 0.14ug), Cadmium (< 0.09ug), Lead (<
0.29ug) & Mercury (< 0.29ug) levels in the sample. Tolerance levels for each are
provided in parenthesis.
ICP-MS test protocols will be adopted based on Gray et al (2015), In pursuit of
ISO 17025 accreditation, methods will be standardized and validated internally.
80 - Pesticide & Fertilizer Residue
For pesticide & fertilizer residue detection, the Hocking College lab will use a
combination of Gas Chromatography with Mass Spectrometer (GC-MS) with
Liquid Chromatography w MS (LC-MS). A sample shall automatically be deemed
to have failed if a residue is detected from any pesticide not on the approved
pesticide list. We are also evaluating new analytic equipment designed
specifically for pesticide/fertilizer residues in cannabis samples, like PerkinElmer’s
QSight Pesticide Analyzer. The QSight integrates QuEChERS extraction protocols
with UPLC Technology (LC/MS/MS) (source).

Form R - Page 7 of 35 – Back to Top

For pesticide residue analysis, a sample shall be deemed to have passed if it
satisfies the most stringent acceptable standard for an approved pesticide
chemical residue in a food item as outlined in Subpart C of 40 C.F.R. Part 180, as
effective on September 8, 2017. There are almost 400 compounds on this list;
our facility anticipates testing for 40 of most common pesticides & fertilizers. Our
lab will also reference Table 10 of the "Cannabis Inflorescence: Standards of
Identity, Analysis, and Quality Control" (2014) AHP monograph.
Our lab test protocols will be adopted from Armstrong (2017), AOAC Official
Method 2007.01, Daley et al (2013).
Residual Solvents
Concentrates and manufactured products will be analyzed for harmful
concentrations of residual solvents including Butane, Pentane, Hexane,
Isopropanol, ethanol and/or water. These results are reported using a Gas
Chromatograph with Flame Ion Detector and Head Space (GC-FID HS) in parts
per million (ppm).
Specific limits of hydrocarbons, ethanol and/or water are not provided in HB523
or Department regulations. In setting detection threshold limits, our lab will
reference Table 12 - Permissible and restricted solvents in the manufacture of
cannabis preparations of the "Cannabis Inflorescence: Standards of Identity,
Analysis, and Quality Control" (2014) AHP monograph. The International Council
for Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human
Use (ICH) has published guidelines for Residual Solvent concentrations that will
also be considered (ICH – Impurities: Guide for Residual Solvents). Experimental
protocols will be specific to the test equipment purchased. For example, see this
analysis of residual solvent with HS/GC/MS – Shimadzu.
Methodology/Protocol References
Giese MW, Lewis MA, Giese L and Smith KM. Journal of AOAC International,
Volume 98, Number 6, November-December 2015, pp. 1503-1522(20) DOI:
http://dx.doi.org/10.5740/jaoacint.15-116

Citti, Braghiroli, Angela, Cannazza, Pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis of
cannabinoids: A critical review, In Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical
Analysis, 2017, , ISSN 0731-7085, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2017.06.003
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Mudge, E. M., Murch, S. J., & Brown, P. N. (2017). Leaner and greener analysis of
cannabinoids. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 409(12), 3153–3163.
http://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-017-0256-3
This sample preparation method eliminates the use of chloroform, which has been routinely used in
cannabinoid analysis, reducing material costs, use of greener solvents, and improved laboratory
safety for personnel.

Armstrong (2017) Analysis of Pesticide Residues in Cannabis Regulated by
Oregon State Using LC/MS/MS. Application Note; PerkinElmer, Inc.
Gray et al (2015). Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometric
Determination of Arsenic, Cadmium, Chromium, Lead, Mercury, and Other
Elements in Food Using Microwave Assisted Digestion. Food and Drug
Administration. Link
AOAC Official Method 2007.01. Pesticide Residues in Foods by Acetonitrile
Extraction and Partitioning with Magnesium Sulfate.2007.
Brighenti et al (2017). Development of a new extraction technique and HPLC
method for the analysis of non-psychoactive cannabinoids in fibre-type
Cannabis sativa L. (hemp). Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis,
Vol 143, 2017, Pg 228-236, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2017.05.049
Elzinga et al (2015). Cannabinoids and Terpenes as Chemotaxonomic Markers in
Cannabis. Nat Prod Chem Res 3: 181. doi:10.4172/2329-6836.1000181
Fischedick et al (2010) Metabolic fingerprinting of Cannabis sativa L.,
cannabinoids and terpenoids for chemotaxonomic and drug standardization
purposes. Phytochemistry. doi: 10.1016/j.phytochem.2010.10.001
Jin et al (2017) Classification of Cannabis Cultivars Marketed in Canada for
Medical Purposes by Quantification of Cannabinoids and Terpenes Using HPLCDAD and GC-MS. J Anal Bioanal Tech 8: 349. doi: 10.4172/2155-9872.1000349
Holmes et al (2015). Microbiological Safety Testing of Cannabis. Cannabis Safety
Institute. http://cannabissafetyinstitute.org/white-papers/
Qiu et al (2017). Analysis of terpenes and turpentines using gas chromatography
with vacuum ultraviolet detection. J Sep Sci. 2017;40:869–877. doi:10.1002/
jssc201601019.
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Wang et al (2017), Quantitative Determination of Cannabinoids in Cannabis and
Cannabis Products Using Ultra-High-Performance Supercritical Fluid
Chromatography and Diode Array/Mass Spectrometric Detection. J Forensic Sci,
62: 602–611. doi:10.1111/1556-4029.13341
Upton et al (2014). Cannabis Inflorescence (Cannabis spp.): Standards of
Identity, Analysis, and Quality Control. American Herbal Pharmacopoeia, rev
2014.
Farrer (2015). Technical report: Oregon Health Authority’s process
to decide which types of contaminants to test for in cannabis. Oregon Health
Authority.
Daley et al (2013). Testing Cannabis for Contaminants. BOTEC Analysis Corp.

Proposed Analytical Services
This section provides a list of proposed analytical services to be offered.
State-Mandated Potency & Safety Testing
We will offer all state-mandated panels required as product moves through the
supply chain (Figure 1). Each panel has different tests, with overlap between
panels.
Standard Testing Services will meet all state-mandated tests with a 2-week max
turnaround time.
Prime Testing Services will meet all state-mandated tests with a 72-hour
turnaround time. For these expedited services, there will be additional charges.
Other Professional Analytic Services
There are other tests or data that licensed medical cannabis operations seek
that will be distinct from the mandated testing panels. Most often these are ondemand, single test analyses. For example, a cultivation facility may want to
track cannabinoid & terpene synthesis every other day during the 4-6-week
flowering period. In this case, an entire panel is not necessary just a one-off
Cannabinoid & Terpene HPLC-DAD UV test. These services will be charged
hourly based on the project requirements (ex. Lab tech only, lab tech+data
scientist). Monitoring the chemical profiles of cannabis grows is useful for
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optimizing cultivation conditions, maximizing product value, and determining
harvest time.
Providing these professional services to OHIO medical cannabis operators is
critical to our business model. We want to be the trusted, go to partner for
providing analytical services and assistance with the utmost professionalism.
Customer service is a top priority for Hocking College’s testing facility and
providing additional analytical professional services is a vital part of that goal.
On-site THC/CBD analysis (Flower only)
When collecting flower samples at cultivation facilities, we plan to send our
drivers with a mobile cannabinoid analyzer. This will allow us to provide
cultivators with a rough idea of THC/CBD concentrations immediately. While the
official results will be those measured during test 40, an on-site test is used to
reduce the anxious waiting on behalf of our customers.
Cultivation: Genetics & Phenotype
This professional service is offered to cultivators trying to breed new genetics or
get the best phenotypic expression of their genetics. By collecting data
throughout the flowering phases, we can provide cultivators with critical
information about cannabinoid biosynthesis rate, terpene biosynthesis rate &
genetic sequencing. The data we provide can help cultivators to optimize
cultivation techniques for yields, taste and/or smell.
In addition to the product safety measures, Moisture Content/Water Activity
(Aw) tests provide, moisture content is significant when determining when to
harvest flowers, or how long to cure them for. Performing these tests at regular
intervals enables cultivators to optimize their harvesting and curing processes.
For more details see: Smith et al 2016. Optimization of Cannabis Grows Using
Fourier Transform Mid-Infrared Spectroscopy (link).
All analytical services rendered on samples not being sold to another licensee
will be marked "For research and development only. Not for sale."
Cultivation: Optimizing Cultivation Room & Environmental
The quality of cultivation facilities output, to a major extent, is determined by the
conditions of the grow rooms. Cultivation rooms have to be clean (no insects,
mold or fungus). To test for contamination, we will offer grow room test
packages using the PathogenDX-Grow Room tests and others.
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In addition to growing time, another variable expected to determine bud potency
is the light intensity a cannabis plant is exposed to while growing. Other
modulating factors include light composition, air movement, water conditions,
nutrient cycles. This professional service set will involve one-off tests, not
necessarily in regular intervals (most likely during times room is empty, before or
after flowering cycle) and is focused on factors of the cultivation room
environment.
Processors: Product Formulation & Design
Processors take raw flower, extract the essential oils and manufacture products
from this extraction. An oil cartridge vaporizer, for example, is a prefilled oil tank
intended for use on a battery and vaporization. The composition of the oil going
into this cartridge can vary based on processor preferences and consumer
preferences.
With this professional service, we will be able to assist processors with product
development and optimize manufacturing practices. As extractions are
produced, cannabinoids and terpenes are separated, which requires mixing
them back together before putting in a cartridge. Our services will allow
processors to measure cannabinoid and terpene concentrations before an entire
lot is produced. Hocking College testing facility will help processors reach the
best balance between chemical constituents for a vaporizer.
Patient/Doctor Services: Improving Patient Care
Patients & Doctors are at the forefront of recognizing and recording ideal
chemical compositions for medical conditions. The Hocking College testing lab
intends to work collaboratively with doctors & patients so that therapeutic
approaches can be improved. Given our Research Goals (below), the collective
data sets generated by the lab will enable discovery of large trends in treatment
results. Fulfilling our role in the knowledge feedback loop is a principal mission of
the Hocking College testing lab.
Reporting Results: Certificate of Analysis
Results of each analysis will be communicated accurately, clearly,
unambiguously and objectively, and under any specific instructions in the test or
calibration methods.
All Hocking College testing laboratory Certificates of Analysis will contain:
1. a title (e.g. “Test Report” or “Calibration Certificate”)
2. The name & license number of testing laboratory
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3. The name & license number of the cultivator or processor
4. The registered name of the medical marijuana strain or medical marijuana
product that was registered with the department;
5. A unique batch or lot number
6. The date or dates on which each test was performed; identification of the
method used;
7. A grid or table listing all tests performed, and indicating "pass" or "fail."
8. The cannabinoid profile of the sample, including the percentage content by
weight for, at minimum:
a. Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC);
b. Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinolic acid (THCA);
c. Cannabidiol (CBD);
d. Cannabidiolic acid (CBDA); and
e. Cannabinol (CBN);
9. Moisture content;
10. Water activity;
11. Results of analysis for foreign matter contamination;
12. Quantitative results of analysis for microbial contamination;
13. Quantitative results of analysis for heavy metal contamination;
14. Quantitative results of analysis for pesticide and fertilizer residue;
15. Quantitative results of analysis for mycotoxins;
16. Quantitative results of analysis for residual solvents
17. The signature of the laboratory manager or scientific director certifying
the analysis.
Other Considerations for Report
•

Quantitative results of analysis of additional cannabinoids for which the
laboratory can obtain a standard for comparison;

•

Quantitative results of analysis of terpenes for which the laboratory can
obtain a standard for comparison;

•

A certificate of analysis shall not contain any sum totals of cannabinoids or
terpenes, except THC content.

•

Unique identification number of the test report or calibration certificate.

General or lab-wide information
•

Reference to the sampling plan and procedures used by the laboratory or
other bodies where these are relevant to the validity or application of the
results;
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•

Date of receipt of the test or calibration item(s) where this is critical to the
validity and application of the results, and the date(s) of the performance
of the test or calibration.

•

The test or calibration results with, where appropriate, the units of
measurement;

•

A statement to the effect that the results relate only to the items tested or
calibrated.

Research Plan
Endocannabinoid System & Human Wellness
The endocannabinoid system is a major signaling system in the human body, yet
it was not discovered until the 1990s. Currently, what we understand is this
system is most prevalent in the central nervous system (the most abundant
expressed receptor in CNS is CB1) & immune system, and it appears to balance
all biological systems to homeostasis. Biological homeostasis is easily
conceptualized as a “Goldilocks” zone. For living species to remain healthy and
vigilant, your body cannot be “too hot” or “too cold” but “just right.” In fact, most
states of illness from neurodegeneration and cancer at their very core result
from lack of control over homeostasis. These indications of wide-spread activity
is why medical cannabis & the endocannabinoid system hold great promise for
therapeutic development, improving public health & our understanding of human
wellness.
Advancements in understanding the endocannabinoid system and its role in
protecting and promoting human wellness are simply not possible without first
precisely measuring the chemical composition of the medicine and connecting it
to outcomes. By placing the quality assurance and safety testing in the hands of
higher education, OHIO has ensured that the translational exchange from data,
information, and knowledge will be complete.
The applicant is not a privately-owned, privately-controlled analytics lab - we
intend to create opportunities for discovery rather than destroy them by
hoarding data to ourselves.
In summary, our research mission is to increase opportunities for Informed
Consumption. Informed Consumption encapsulates the notion that a consumer
should have as much information about the product as possible to make the best
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decision. Two research tracks are described below based on the availability of
data.
Research Possible with Lab’s Analytical Data – Strain Names vs Composition
Strain Names vs Analytic Profile - The science surrounding cannabis is rapidly
developing whereby understanding the chemical profile (cannabinoids and
terpenoids) is considered essential to strain identification and expected effects.
The Hocking College testing facility will employ 1-2 data scientists. This position
will evaluate & automated all statistical calculations, and apply advanced data
mining techniques across the entire data set. There will be a filtering process on
all raw data to scrub it of personally identifiable information (specific names,
locations) and replace it with numerical denotations. The source of the sample is
not of interest; we will be correlating, comparing and contrasting analytic profiles
against a number of independent variables. Our goal is to uncover hidden
connections and relationships using neuronal networks, machine learning and
classical classification analyses.
For example, see Elizinga et al 2015 – Cannabinoids and Terpenes as
Chemotaxonomic Markers in Cannabis. This study performed a principal
component analysis (PCA) across a dataset containing 494 cannabis flower
samples and 170 concentrate samples analyzed for 31 compounds. What they
found was a continuum of chemical composition amongst cannabis strains
instead of distinct chemotypes. Reinforcing the suspected: strain name is not a
clear indicator of chemical composition.
We look forward to providing insights to cultivators and processors, using our
data collection and professional services to help optimize, refine and improve
their operations as requested. Exploring a granular relationship between
cannabis chemical composition and the cultivation environment is also an
unexplored and rich research area. Dr. Cachat has been performing data
collection and analysis on the cultivation light space for the last three years.
Research Possible with Integrated Data Approach – Informed Consumption
In Ohio, the state has chosen to adopt and model medical cannabis tracking
after OARRS, the Ohio Automated Rx Reporting system. This system “collects
information on all outpatient prescriptions for controlled substances dispensed
by Ohio-licensed pharmacies and personally furnished by licensed prescribers in
Ohio.” All wholesale transactions are recorded as well. By updating this database
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every 24hrs, the state can monitor, in almost real-time, the content of controlled
substances, who is providing them, who is taking them & why.
Linking the OARRS consumption information with the specific analytical profiles
patients settle into overtime is currently the only way to discover which
phytocannabinoid compositions provide relief to disease categories. This type of
research is only possible in a consumer market because of the federal
restrictions and regulations on controlled substance research at US universities –
particularly medical cannabis. Thus, Ohio is currently positioned to potentially be
the only source of the most internationally revolutionary biomedical discoveries
in the modern history.
Critical and most sensitive to this integrated research approach is data
anonymization. This is an information sanitation process that removes personal
data – specific names, locations, addresses and other confidential information –
and replaces it with generic, numerical data (e.x. #11353). As a data scientist, Dr.
Jonathan Cachat, Ph.D. has experience with large-scale biomedical data
integration, standardizing and hypothesis-driven exploratory analyses. We are
extremely excited to work with the state, Ohio researcher’s and patients on this
collaborative research and sincerely hope the state will recognize the potential
value in this approach.
The generation of data in a cannabis testing lab provides a crucial piece of the
puzzle that is human health. Our research goals are to further biomedical
research by connecting dots between analytic profiles and disease
symptomology. In facilitating the translation of raw data into actionable
information and knowledge that our health care professionals can use to
improve treatment strategies and outcomes, the public health of all Ohioans our families, friends, and communities - stand to benefit tremendously.

Part II: Facility Specifications
Hocking College is a public community college of the Ohio Board of Regents
System and is located in Nelsonville, Ohio. The college offers courses at its Perry
Campus in New Lexington, Ohio, and at the Logan Campus, located
approximately 46 miles southeast of Columbus. The college offers programs in
the following areas: Allied Health; Arts, Business & Science; Engineering and
Information Technology; Hospitality; Natural Resources; Nursing; and Public

Form R - Page 16 of 35 – Back to Top

Laboratory Floor
This is where samples will be processed, tested and disposed of (Figure 3). We
plan to control and log access to the laboratory floor with employee scan badges
(see Form S: Security Plan for more details). The laboratory floor will be built to
accepted analytical chemical standards with clean, chemical safe storage and
work areas. The lab will be kept clean and contaminate free at all times. This
area of the facility will also have all necessary chemical lab safety features such
as an eye wash station and spill shower.
Samples received from transporters will be checked and inventoried at the
receiving workbench within the sample storage room. We will log customer
information and batch specifics into the lab’s LIM software. In turn, this will
create an analysis schedule based on testing requirements and current lab load.
Accepted samples will be stored securely in the sample storage room in 20C
stand-up freezers. Lab techs performing tests then obtain the sample and take it
to the sample preparation table before moving to analytic benches (shown in
Figure 3).
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Reagents and other test consumables will be stored in proper storage
containers located strategically close to respective workbenches. All applicable
safety data sheets and labels will be stored in the same location as the reagents.
Spare equipment and larger laboratory items will be stored in the equipment
storage room. Lab workbenches will be outfitted with all required equipment,
including calibrated scales.
Office Floor
The office floor will contain banks of desks and computers. Computational, data
processing and administrative tasks will be performed here.

Part III: Standard Operating Procedures
ISO/IEC 17025 Certification
The laboratory will be following a standard ISO standard certification process
with accreditation providers in the State of Ohio. The laboratory will pursue a
plan that incorporates ISO/IEC 17025 guidelines and recommendations from the
beginning. We intend to receive ISO 17025 certification within two years.
Our team has years of professional experience facilitating and maintaining ISO
certification in manufacturing, aerospace and pharmaceutical industries.
Scope of Accreditation & Proficiency Testing
ISO 17025 does not specify what methods a laboratory uses. Laboratories must
define the methods included within their scope of accreditation. In order for a
Cannabis testing laboratory to be fully accredited across all of its relevant
methodologies, its scope must include identification and quantitation of those
components and potential contaminants relevant to public health.
All ISO 17025 accredited laboratories must participate in proficiency testing
activities when they are relevant and available. The lab will be prepared to
perform blinded-sample proficiency testing should the department require it.
Accreditation ensures that laboratories are adhering rigorously to methods, and
proficiency testing ensures that their methods are effective.
Analytic Test Protocols
The scientific director will develop test specific, stepwise protocols for all tests
performed in the lab. These protocols will be printed in three-ring binders and
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conspicuously placed on the lab floor, readily available to techs. Digital copies of
all protocols will also be available on the lab’s network portal.
Equipment Calibration & Maintenance Schedule
The scientific director and lab manager will determine the proper calibration
schedule for each piece of equipment based on its specific use. The calibration
schedule will be posted in the lab and shared digitally with all staff members. It
will be the lab managers responsibility to ensure the schedule is maintained and
updated as needed.
Business/Administration Processes
All business processes and procedures will be documented and stored on the
office floor.
Staff Guidelines & Employment Policies
We will have guidelines and policies for all positions, including management.

Data Management SOPs
Data integrity is a key component to achieving ISO17025 accreditation. Several
different types of data will be produced by lab operations: experimental data,
equipment calibration data, financial data, customer data & employee data. The
executive director is responsible for ensuring data integrity and is the only lab
employee with complete root access to the data schemas.
Our approach to data management is to safely and securely store analytical and
business data produced by the lab. The laboratory will have on-site, centralized
network storage servers (NAS) to securely access and store lab data. Laboratory
data will be backed-up on a regular basis by data type.
Regarding business data, our goals are to ensure compliance with rules and
regulations. Our lab will keep financial data including all transaction records,
bank statements, invoices and receipts within selected small business accounting
software (ex. QuickBooks). To the greatest extent possible, financial data will
back-up daily during nightly data archive processes. Other business data such as
customer information, employee files, training and certification information will
be stored securely and accessible by senior staff.
With analytical data, our goals are to provide accurate results to customers.
Raw experimental data generated from sample testing will be retained for at
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least two years from the collection date. Aside from test results, this includes
documentation of all procedures and processes of each step a sample
undergoes as it moves through the lab. The ability to show a complete,
documented trail of all procedures done to any sample is important in ensuring
the results can be reproduced, and no deviations occurred. Moreover, our
research goals with the analytical data are to improve the biomedical
understanding of medical cannabis.
To satisfy ISO17025 accreditation and our research goals, analytical data and
sample tracking will be performed with Laboratory Information Management
system (LIMs). We are currently considering PharmWare’s cloud-based LIMS
system (http://www.pharmware.net/).

Part IV: Staffing and Training / Facility staffing and
employment matters
Our staffing strategy is to hire qualified, full-time staff invested in the success of
the operation.

Organizational Chart
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Management Staff
Analytical chemistry laboratories require skilled scientific staff. While many
microbiological assays can be run by trained technicians, analytical chemistry
requires much greater expertise. The requirement for accurate cannabinoid
extraction and testing in a variety of food matrices is something that cannot be
covered by a simple set of known protocols. Only well trained and experienced
chemists can be expected to solve each of these problems properly as they arise.
For this reason, we recommend that all Cannabis testing activities be directly
overseen by personnel meeting specific academic and training credentials. In
particular, laboratories should be managed by a full-time on-site chemist, with a
PhD in a relevant field or at least eight years of experience specific to analytical
chromatography.

Scientific & Executive Director – Dr. Jonathan Cachat, PhD
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Hocking College hired Dr. Jonathan Cachat, PhD to lead the college’s new
laboratory sciences program. Born and raised in Ohio, our lab director has a
Ph.D. in neuroscience, specializing in psychopharmacology from Tulane University
and started his undergraduate studies at Denison University in Granville, Ohio.
Dr. Cachat has four years’ experience in running a federal Drug Enforcement
Administration (DEA) approved, Level 1 laboratory at a major university. This
included including starting the lab, developing the lab operations and business
process, directing the laboratory research, and hiring and managing students.
Several of these students are working in laboratories, including a medical
cannabis laboratory, and others have pursued MD/PhD programs/degrees.
Dr. Cachat is also an internationally recognized data scientist from his
breakthrough research methodology. He provided drug discovery efforts with a
more cost-effective and efficient way to do investigational pharmacology
research by replacing mammals with zebrafish. He is the author of two books on
how zebrafish offer an opportunity to perform steadfast scientific investigations
in a robust and high-throughput manner for behavioral neuroscience research.
This included, but not limited to, research on heroin, lysergic acid diethylamide
(LSD), marijuana (cannabis), 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (ecstasy),
methaqualone, and peyote.
Dr. Cachat’s post-doctoral work was with University of California, Davis. This
work involved developing strategies and programs for the collection, description,
organization, normalization, storage, preservation, integration and visualization
of data across the spectrum of neuroscience programs on campus.
Recently, Dr. Cachat raised $3M in research funding to create a sustainable
process for growing medical cannabis, named DSS SunGrown Indoor. The
results include dramatic reductions in electricity and water consumption, and a
better-quality product. An article in Marijuana.com entitled “Sunlight Will
Change Indoor Cannabis Cultivation Forever” describes Dr. Cachat as “One of
the brightest minds cannabis has to offer.” Perhaps the most important aspect
of the research is lowering the carbon footprint of this rapidly growing industry.
Dr. Cachat is friends with the owners of several of the test labs in California and
has visited and advised some on best lab practices.
Dr. Cachat was a founding member of the California Growers Association, was
an advisor to the Sacramento NORML organization, was a data scientist with the
Neuroscience Information Framework. The depth of his knowledge and
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experience can be seen at www.jcachat.com, including a comprehensive
curriculum vitae.
Dr. Cachat fulfills this role, and has experience not only managing lab employees
but training lab college-level students.
As the executive director, Dr. Cachat will oversee the operational functioning of
the Hocking College testing facility. As the scientific director, Dr. Cachat will guide
the laboratory’s research goals, ensure proper analyses and facilitate sharing of
research findings.
Director of Operations & Compliance
The director of operations will oversee improving and optimizing the operations
of the testing lab. This position will lead the lab’s efforts to obtain ISO17025
accreditation. Additionally, maintaining compliance with state and local laws will
a primary responsibility of the Director of Operations.
Regarding experience, we will seek an applicant who has experience with ISO
accreditation processes. Ideally, they will have been through the process in a
related industry like manufacturing, processing or pharmaceutical companies.
Director of Business Development & Optimization
Maintaining quality services at a competitive rate in the analytical testing space
is not an easy task. Clients want results as soon as possible, for a cheap as
possible and will not be thrilled if results reveal a contamination forcing product
destruction. The Business Director oversees all aspects of the testing labs
business activities – from marketing to sales and pricing models. Their daily
activities and responsibilities are focused on monitoring and optimizing business
activity and cash flow. Ideally, the Business director is ambitious, forwardthinking and pragmatic. The educational qualifications are business education or
real-world experience in analytical services lab.

Staff Positions & Roles - Laboratory
Data Scientist (s)
As senior staff of the laboratory, on-site data scientist(s) will oversee research
data integrity, statistical analyses, and develop scripts or programs to automate
analyses, reporting and data visualization. They will be responsible for reporting
analytically valid results, opinions and interpretations based on collected data. In
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concert with the lab manager, data scientist (s) will ensure lab technicians are
performing protocols properly & collected data & results are scientifically valid.
Data scientist(s) is a trained data/programming/statistical professional with
formal education in computer science or statistics and/or real-world experience
managing data workflows, data programming languages (ex. R, python,
MatLab), data visualization frameworks (ex. D3.js). These individuals are
technically capable, and can also provide on-site technical troubleshooting for
lab IT systems. This role provides technical management with responsibility for
technical operations, and the provision of resources needed to ensure required
quality of laboratory operations.
In addition, data scientist(s) will work closely with the scientific director and
business director, with access to business & financial data to assist with business
development and growth.
Lab Manager (s)
As a senior staff of the laboratory, on-site lab manager (s) will oversee the dayto-day activity of lab testing, including prioritizing and organizing the daily test
schedule, activity of lab (& student) technicians and general operations on the
lab floor. Under the direction of the management team, the lab manager’s
number one priority is ensuring samples are processed and tested efficiently,
properly & without delay. If a machine breaks down mid-day, the lab manager is
the first stage of corrective action. As a preventative measure, the lab manager
will be responsible for daily inspections of analysis equipment.
Lab manager(s) will provide supervision of testing and calibration staff, including
trainees, by persons familiar with methods and procedures, the purpose of each
test and/or calibration, and with the assessment of the test or calibration results.
This role provides technical management with responsibility for laboratory
analytic operations, and the provision of resources needed to ensure required
quality of laboratory operations. The lab manager will keep track of equipment
calibration reports and be responsible for planning regular validation,
maintenance and replacement of laboratory consumables. Shares
responsibilities with respect to method modification and development and
validation of new methods with management team & data scientist (s).
The lab manager position requires years of experience working professionally in
research labs, with real-world experience favored over textbook exposure. These
individuals must intimately know all tests, equipment and protocols used in the
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Hocking College testing laboratory. They should be able to respond quickly and
calmly to unexpected, potentially day-ending, problems – such as HPLCDAD/UV machine breaking down or not working properly. They need a vast
knowledge of analytical chemistry and a social temperament capable of
effectively managing laboratory technicians.
Lab Technicians (s)
Laboratory technicians perform the day-to-day analytical testing, data
collection, clean-up. Under direction of the lab manager, lab techs receive the
daily plan from the lab manager and perform it as effectively and efficiently as
possible. They are primarily responsible for the preparation of equipment and
plant materials for cannabinoid extraction. These individuals also process
extracts and concentrates, as well as clean and maintain equipment and the lab
itself. Lab technicians must be able to maintain a strict and current inventory of
all equipment, chemicals, and plants in the laboratory. Ideally, lab technicians will
have some knowledge on how to repair and adjust basic lab equipment (ex.
centrifuges, microscopes) and are able to identify potential problems in
chromatography equipment before they fully occur and notify the lab manager.
The lab technician’s job goes beyond actual lab work to include the storage of
equipment and supplies, clerical tasks, MSDS maintenance, and the sterilization
of glassware used for testing. Lab Managers will have digression with lab
budgets to ensure supplies are stocked and ordered on time, as well as R&D and
maintenance budgets with management team approval.
Multitasking will be required, as will the ability to work in an environment of fast
and constant change. Education that may be preferable but not mandatory may
include an Associate’s or Bachelor’s degree in biology, chemistry, knowledge of
medical cannabis benefits and law, and experience with sample extraction
analysis and purification.
Experience required for the position includes one or more years with extraction
or concentrates in a lab setting. They must also have an understanding of the
cannabis regulations and industry applications for the state they will be working
in. They must possess experience as a lab or extraction technician, with a
background in inorganic and organic chemistry or biology. Training on lab’s
equipment and protocols will be provided to all lab tech’s as part of the onboarding process.
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Student Technicians (s)
Student Technicians are pre-verified and selectively admitted Hocking College
students majoring in cannabis laboratory sciences. The first-year training in
Hocking’s Laboratory Sciences program will provide students with the
conceptual and theoretical foundation of cannabis laboratory operations. During
the second year, students who are able to meet all requirements of HB523 &
department regulations will be selectively admitted working with in the cannabis
lab a few times a week.
During these lab rotations, student technicians will shadow & assist lab
technicians performing the daily tasks in the lab. While directly assisting lab
technicians, student technicians will experience first-hand the operations of a
functioning cannabis analytical testing lab.
Ohio Means Jobs
As the aging population and expanded health insurance coverage increases the
demand for healthcare services, the need for qualified laboratory professionals
is expected to grow. While the demand for medical laboratory professionals is
growing, the number of new students graduating from clinical laboratory
programs is still declining, partly as the result of program closures. The nation’s
labs need to fill more than 7,000 jobs annually, but U.S. clinical laboratory
education programs are producing only about 6,000 qualified laboratory
professionals each year, according to the National Accrediting Agency for
Clinical Laboratory Sciences (NAACLS). School closings in the last 15 years have
reduced the number of medical laboratory scientists (MLS) and medical
laboratory technologists (MLT) being trained annually. Since 1990, the number of
laboratory training programs has dropped from 720 to 608, a decrease of more
than 15% (Source). Forensics and Chemical lab technicians follow the same
trend.

Staff Positions & Roles - Office
Office Manager (s)
As a senior staff of the facility, office manager (s) oversees day-to-day activity
off the lab floor – serving in as business administrator capacity. The office
manager will oversee all non-lab aspects of the operation including customer
relationships, vendor & supplier communications, and interfacing with thirdparty professional groups the lab may hire (ex legal, CPAs). The office manager
is the direct supervisor of CR & Sales Managers and Drivers/transporter (s).
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The office manager will need experience in business administration, with a
preference for work experience over formal educational training. This position
requires people skills with a strong professionalism as an out-ward facing
employee.
Customer & Sales Manager (s)
This position handles day-to-day business interactions with customers,
communicating via phone calls, emails and on-site meetings. Their primary goal
is to ensure customers are satisfied with, and understand, the lab’s analytic
results. Moreover, that they are aware of the additional professional services
offered. In collaboration with business development director (s), the customer &
sales managers are expected to have a strong, well-articulated working
knowledge of all lab services and offerings.
This position requires people skills with a strong professionalism as an out-ward
facing employee. Customer & Sales Manager (s) are expected to have a strong
understanding of the Ohio Medical Cannabis supply chain, including developing
personal relationships with as many license holders as possible. This will include
traveling to industry events, trade-shows and political meetings to represent the
company and relay important developments back to management.
Experience within the cannabis industry is important. These individuals must be
able to put themselves in our customers shoes, anticipate their needs and
provide our solutions to problems. Understanding grower’s harvesting cycles,
and/or extractors bottlenecks and producer’s goals is a requirement for this
position.
Driver/Transporter (s)
Driver/Transporter (s) travel between our facility and licensed
cultivators/producers/dispensaries in to collect required samples for analysis.
Proper sampling techniques for flower and extracts will be taught to all drivers
upon hire by the lab manager and scientific director. Based on service requests,
driver(s) are expected to follow a direct route to/from licensees and maintain
clear, readily-available transportation logs. Driver’s will report directly to the
office manager.
As an out-ward facing employee, this position requires social skills with a strong
professionalism. Drivers are expected to maintain good standing with all clients
by providing accurate arrival times and performing required tasks quickly
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without hindering the customer’s operations. The physical demands of this job
are limited to long hours of driving and lifting packages 50 pounds or less.

Staffing and training guidelines
Upon hire, all staff members will be provided with Staff Guidelines & Employment
Policies. To ensure compliance with all rules and regulations, staff will be
provided with very clear notes on what is legal and illegal under Ohio law. As a
condition of employment, all staff members will undergo an annual state law
review with the executive director. This will be acknowledged and recorded by
both parties upon completion annually.
The guidelines will include an overview of the state regulatory inspection process,
and how the laboratory remains prepared. The guidelines will clearly describe
how to welcome state inspectors and/or law enforcement in the event they visit.
The scientific director and/or lab manager will teach our standard operating
procedures to laboratory staff. This will include the safe operation of analysis
equipment, proper handling of cannabis sample, disposal of chemicals and
clean-up tasks.
All new laboratory staff will spend their first week working hand-and-hand with
the lab manager. In this way, they will be instructed by demonstration and
written instruction on experimental SOPs. New hires will have to see current
laboratory staff perform a test twice before attempting to do it on their own. The
first time they do it on their own, the lab manager or senior tech will observe. If
the task is performed correctly, the employee will be recorded as trained and
able to perform the function solo.
The executive director and/or office manager will train all office staff as hired.

Plan of to inform, hire, and educate minorities, women, veterans,
disabled persons, and Ohio residents
“To fully be competitive, Hocking College must hold itself accountable by continuous improvement
and performance. We must also must look for new opportunities to build a diverse student
population, such as supporting our veterans and current military by informing them of the
advantages offered by Hocking College.”
Tom Johnson
Chairman of the Board Hocking College
Hocking College Strategic Action Plan for 2017-2022
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Diversity and Inclusion
We commit Hocking College as a place of belonging where all people feel
welcome and included. We celebrate and learn from the culture and ethnicities
of the world, with a commitment to respectfulness and inclusion for all
individuals, including our veterans and active duty military and their families,
those of all races, religions, sexes, ages, orientations, ideologies and physical
challenges.
Ohio residents
We plan to hold an open house/job fair at the new lab facility prior to opening or
accepting cannabis samples.
The open house will be advertised locally and will invite any Ohioan interested in
learning about employment opportunities at lab to come visit.
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Part V: Inventory Tracking & Sample Management.
Sample Inventory Control Plan

Sample Management
Sample management will occur on a secure, cloud-based platform with a clientside dashboard for customers and a lab-side dashboard for internal workflows.
Customers log into their dashboard to request testing services, monitor realtime progress, and view analysis results – from Certificates of Analysis to data
download.
Collection & Transportation
The laboratory drivers will obtain samples from Ohio cannabis businesses
following a testing service request. The purpose of sample collection is to obtain
random sample representative of the entire batch or lot. Our lab’s sampling
techniques will be adopted from AHP 2014, AAFCO 2015, Sexton 2013, ORELAP
2017a-d with consideration for the department’s regulations.
On location, drivers will be equipped with handheld sample intake scanners.
These scanners will record the sampling procedure performed, environmental
conditions and relevant batch information. This data will be synced with Metrcs.
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Samples are securely transported to Hocking College testing facility. Drivers will
deposit samples in the sample storage room. Batch details and testing panel
specifics are entered into the lab LIMS. Labels with unique barcodes are printed
and placed on the original sample container. are used to track the sample
through the entire laboratory facility.
Sample Storage
Sample is deposited in storage room. Sample storage will be available on site at
2-8°C (usually short term), and -20°C and -80°C (long term). Batch Details and
test panels entered into LIMS and Metric (states seed-to-sale program). A large,
detailed “original sample label” is printed and container placed in 20C freezer.
The laboratory has a storage capacity of more than 1 billion samples in -20°C
and about 1 million in -80°C. When more storage capacity is needed we extend
our storage facilities to meet our customer needs.
Access to our sample storage facility will be restricted to authorized employees
only.
As a default, samples will be stored for 6 months after analysis for retesting
and/or research purposes. Upon request of the customer and as an add-on
service, samples can be stored for a longer period.
Sample Testing
At the sample prep workbench, lab techs will scan barcodes to determine which
tests need to be performed. They are provided with overview of the test panel
test progress, test specific prep protocols and small, scanable labels for the
physical chain of custody on subsamples required for each test.
As testing samples move across the lab, these small id stickers will be leveraged
to automatically associate test data with the correct sample in the LIMS system.
The labels will also ensure that samples are not mixed-up or tested on the wrong
equipment. As tests are performed, notes will be made if any deviations from
the test protocol are required.
Sample Destruction and Disposal
See details provided in Part VI.
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Sample Management References
AHP. 2014. Cannabis Inflorescence, Cannabis spp., Standards of Identity,
Analysis, and Quality Control. American Herbal Pharmacopoeia.

AAFCO 2015. GOODSamples: Guidance on Obtaining Defensible Samples.
Accessed Sept 2, 2017.
Sexton & Ziskind 2013. Sampling Cannabis for Analytical Purposes. BOTEC
Analysis Corp. I-502 Project #430-1e. Accessed Aug 17, 2017.
ORELAP 2017a. Compositing Multiple Batch Samples for Harvest Lot
Potency Testing. Accessed Sept 2, 2017.
ORELAP 2017b. Sampling and Testing Metrc Guide. Accessed Sept 3,
2017.
ORELAP 2017c. Protocol for Collecting Samples of Usable Marijuana.
Accessed Aug 17, 2017.
ORELAP 2017d. Protocol for Sampling Concentrates, Extracts & Products.
Accessed Aug 17, 2017.

Compliance with Inventory Tracking System
Ohio has selected Metrc (www.Metrc.com) as the seed-to-sale cannabis tracking
system. Metrc is an established platform for inventory tracking in the cannabis
industry. As such, almost all cannabis software systems already have integration
and data exchange services with metric built-in. Our selection for LIMS software
will depend on its ability to integrate with Metrc.
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Part VI: Disposal & Waste Removal
Test protocols (Part I) and SOPs (Part III) will be, in part, chosen to the minimize
environmental impact of the Hocking College testing facility. We value
environmental stewardship and will operated as such.
The test laboratory will have written waste disposal policies and procedures,
readily available on the laboratory floor. Upon completion of the required
analysis panels, any cannabis waste or excess samples not marked for future
research (by Type 1 employee), will be destroyed and rendered useless. This will
be achieved by combining and mixing cannabis waste in with other solid wastes
generated in the lab. All test protocols performed in the lab require less than 2
grams of sample per run. Once the sample has been analyzed and the test is
completed, lab technicians will immediately dispose of the used sample into
marked cannabis disposal receptacles. These receptacles will have a small
opening and only be used for cannabis waste, paper waste, cardboard waste,
and other organic waste.
The resulting garbage will be more than 51% non-consumable, solid waste.
Under the guidance of the laboratory manager, this garbage mixture will be
disposed of into a locked dumpster located within the facilities security fence.
This dumpster will be serviced by local a waste removal company.
If there is any medical cannabis waste and excess medical cannabis not used
during the sample analysis, disposal will be overseen by a type 1 key employee
under video surveillance from the time the destruction begins to when it is placed
in a locked dumpster or other approved, locked container and removed from the
facility.
The test laboratory will maintain and make available a record of every disposal
indicating:
•

The date and time of disposal;

•

The manner of disposal;

•

The amount of the excess medical marijuana;

•

The solid waste process used to render the excess medical marijuana
unusable; and

•

The signature of the type 1 employee overseeing the disposal of the
medical marijuana
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Research & Other Services Exemption
The only exception to this policy is research and development service and other
processional analytic services requested by customers. These lines of analysis
will be performed and monitored by the scientific director and lab manager (both
type 1 employees).
All Other Lab Waste
In addition, the disposal of other waste from the testing laboratory that does not
include medical marijuana, including hazardous waste and liquid waste, will be
performed in a manner consistent with federal and state law.
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Hocking College - Campus Safety & Police Department.
As an Ohio Institute of Higher Education, Hocking Technical College already has
extensive resources, processes, and equipment in place to support the medical
cannabis test lab security requirements.
The primary objective of the Campus Safety and Police Department is to provide a
safe and healthy environment that enhances campus living and learning experiences.
The Ohio Collaborative Law Enforcement Agency provisionally certified the Hocking
College Police Department compliant with current standards in November of 2016 and
issued a Final Certificate in January of 2017. The department is a full-service police
agency that derives its authority from Ohio Revised Code Section 3345.04.
The department has officers on duty 24 hours a day, 365 days per year, who work
closely with the Nelsonville Police Department, Athens County Sheriff and Ohio
Highway Patrol in the enforcement of federal, state, and local statutes, as well as
college regulations. The officers are uniformed and armed, commissioned by the
President through Ohio Police Officer Training Commission (OPOTC), with full
enforcement and arrest powers, and provide vehicle and foot patrols throughout the
college community.
The Hocking College Police Department maintains mutual aid agreements with
Nelsonville PD, Athens Country Sherriff and Ohio Highway Patrol and a city ordinance
exists with the City of Nelsonville, that gives officers police authority in that jurisdiction
when appropriate. The department also maintains radio communications with most
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local agencies (police, fire, EMS). Further, the department communicates regularly with
all other local law enforcement agencies, facilitating the exchange of crime-related
reports and statistics to both ensure a safe living environment for our students and
provide accountability for actions of students while they are a representative of the
institution. In addition, members of the community are encouraged to report criminal
activity or emergency situations to the department by calling the campus extension
6598, or by calling (740) 753- 6598.
Campus Security Procedures
Security procedures are communicated to members of the college community through
several on-going efforts. The following list specifies the medium and the audience:
•

The Annual Security & Fire Safety Report – employees, students, prospective
students

•

The Hocking College Student Code of Conduct—students, employees

•

The Hocking College Emergency Protocol Flipchart 13

•

Residence Hall Programs- students

•

Daily Crime and Fire Logs - Public Record

•

Crime Prevention Information – students, employees

Crime Log
A daily Crime and fire log is maintained at the Hocking College Police Department and
is publicly available during normal business hours. The log includes the nature, date,
time, general location, and disposition of each crime that occurred on campus and is
reported to the Police Department.

Part I: Surveillance Technology and Physical Security
The laboratory security system will, among other things, increase overall safety for
laboratory personnel and the public, improve emergency preparedness by assisting
with preplanning, and lower the organization's liability. There are four integrated
domains to consider when improving security of a facility:
•

physical or architectural security—doors, walls, fences, locks, barriers,
controlled roof access, and cables and locks on equipment;
• electronic security—access control systems, alarm systems, password
protection procedures, and video surveillance systems;
• operational security—sign-in sheets or logs, control of keys and access cards,
authorization procedures, background checks, and security guards; and
• information security—passwords, backup systems, shredding of sensitive
information.
Physical and Electronic Security
The concept of concentric circles of protection, will be used. Physical and electronic
security begins at the perimeter of the building and becomes increasingly more
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stringent as one moves toward the interior area (e.g., at the intervention zone), where
sensitive material, equipment, or technology reside.
Door Locks
Within a laboratory, perhaps the most obvious form of security is the door lock. There
are many choices available, including
•

Cipher locks with an alpha or numeric keypad will be vulnerable to thieves who
are able to deduce the access code from the appearance of the keys. Access
codes will be changed from the factory default when the lock is installed.
• High-security cores are difficult to break into and to duplicate.
• Card access or swipe cards or key FOBS to provide a transaction record and
can be programmed for different levels and times of access.
Users will be trained to not hold doors open for others, and that everyone needs to use
their key to pass through an access point. Unauthorized personnel will not be allowed
to enter the laboratory, and if there is any question, laboratory personnel will be
instructed to call security for guidance. The organization will ensure that there is a
program in place to collect keys or revoke card access to the laboratory before a
person leaves the workplace.
Video Surveillance
Hocking College has a robust video surveillance system already in place. In
collaboration with HCPD Chief, the laboratory will establish the duration of recording
retention, the media used, and the need for permanent archiving and create a
procedure to quickly find, maintain, and duplicate critical recordings if an incident
occurs.
Operational Security
Operational security is responsible for the people within the laboratory. Elements of
operational security will include:
•

Using the existing Hocking College pre-admission process screening (used for
nursing and law enforcement degrees) for full- and part-time personnel
before providing access to sensitive materials or information;
• Using the existing Hocking College ID badges process;
• Working to increase the situational awareness of laboratory personnel (e.g.,
knowing who is in the laboratory, identifying suspicious activity);
• Encouraging the reporting of suspicious behavior, theft, or vandalism;
• Restricting off-hour access to laboratories;
• Providing entry logs at building (employees, customers, suppliers, and visitors)
and laboratory access points; and
• Inspecting and inventorying materials removed from the laboratory.
Information Security
Information and data security will be as critical as security of equipment and materials.
Loss of data and computer systems from sabotage, viruses, or other means can be
devastating for a laboratory. For more details, see Data Management subsection of
Form R Operations Plan.
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Backup Systems
The laboratory will review the current Hocking College process for backing up data on a
regular basis with backup media off-site, in fire-safe storage, or at a central facility
(e.g., the institution's information technology facility). For more details, see Data
Management subsection of Form R Operations Plan.
Confidential or Sensitive Information
Before performing any large-scale data analysis, data will be scrubbed of all
personally identifying information relating to the cultivator or processor it came from.
Security Vulnerability Assessment (SVA)
A security vulnerability assessment (SVA) will be used to catalog potential security risks
to the laboratory and the magnitude of possible threats. It begins with a walk-through
of the laboratory, building, and building perimeter, and includes discussion with
laboratory staff pertaining to the chemicals, equipment, procedures, and data that
they use or produce. The process will assess the adequacy of the systems already in
place and help determine the security planning needs for the laboratory, building, or
department.
Managing Security
The laboratory in collaboration with HCPD Chief, will identify a person, or group,
responsible for the plan. The person or group managing the program will have at least
basic security knowledge, understand the risks and vulnerabilities, and will be provided
sufficient resources, responsibility, and authority.
Training
Security will be an integral part of the laboratory safety program. Ensure all personnel
are trained in security issues, in addition to safety issues. Although safety and security
are two different things, there are many overlaps between measures used to increase
security and those used to increase safety, including
•
•
•
•

minimizing the use of hazardous and precursor chemicals, which reduces
health, safety, and potential security risks;
minimizing the supply of hazardous materials on-site;
restricting access to only those who need to use the material and understand
the hazards from both a chemical standpoint and a security standpoint; and
knowing what to do in an emergency or security breach, and how to recognize
threats.

The laboratory will ensure that all personnel understand the security measures in place
and how to use them.
The laboratory will:
•

Provide a direct feed and login capabilities to the Hocking College Police
Department (HCPD) to allow for real-time access and monitoring of the facility via
the live video surveillance recording system.
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•
•
•
•
•

•
•

•
•
•

•
•

•

•

Provide a display monitor with a minimum screen size of twelve inches shall be
connected to the electronic recording security system always.
Will assure they are Installed in a manner that will prevent cameras from being
readily obstructed, tampered with, or disabled.
Provide the ability to immediately produce a clear color still photo that is a minimum
of 9600 dpi from any camera image (live or recorded).
A date and time stamp embedded on all recordings. The date and time shall be
synchronized and set correctly and shall not significantly obscure the picture.
Cameras installed outdoors and in low-light interior areas shall be day/night
cameras with a minimum resolution of six hundred lines per inch (analog) or D1 (IP)
and a minimum light factor requirement of 0.7 LUX. The installation of additional
lighting may be required to increase picture clarity and brightness. Cameras shall be
calibrated and focused to maximize the quality of the recorded image.
Allow for the exporting of still images in an industry standard image format,
including .jpg, .bmp and.gif.
Provide the ability to for exported video to have the ability to be archived in a
proprietary format that ensures authentication of the video and guarantees that no
alteration of the recorded image has taken place. Exported video shall also can be
saved in an industry standard file format that can be played on a standard
computer operating system. All recordings shall be erased or destroyed prior to
disposal.
Provide the ability to for security recordings shall provide an image resolution of at
least D1, and the image frame rate shall be at least three frames per second during
alarm or motion based recording.
Repair and/or replace any failed component of the video surveillance recording
system within twenty- four hours, unless notice is provided to the department and
an extension is approved.
Provide the ability to for a twenty-four-hour live feed with motion-activated
recording capabilities from all video cameras, which the testing laboratory shall
make available for immediate viewing by the department upon request and shall
retain for at least forty-five days. If a testing laboratory is aware of a pending
criminal, civil or administrative investigation, or legal proceeding for which a
recording may contain relevant information, the testing laboratory shall retain an
unaltered copy of the recording until the investigation or proceeding is closed or the
entity conducting the investigation or proceeding notifies the testing laboratory
manager that it is not necessary to retain the recording;
Provide the ability for a silent alarm, which can be utilized in the event of a holdup or
other instances of duress, which notifies law enforcement;
Provide the ability for a panic alarm, which for purposes of this subsection means
an audible security alarm system signal generated by the manual activation of a
device intended to signal a life threatening or emergency requiring a law
enforcement response;
Provide the ability to for automatic voice dialer, which for purposes of this
subsection means any electrical, electronic, mechanical, or other device capable of
being programmed to send a prerecorded voice message, when activated, over a
telephone line, radio or other communication system, to a law enforcement, public
safety, or emergency services agency requesting dispatch;
Provide the ability to for a failure notification system that provides an audible, text,
or visual notification of any failure in the surveillance system. The failure notification
system shall provide an alert to the testing laboratory within five minutes of the
failure, either by telephone, email, or text message; and
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•
•

•

Provide the ability to comply with the security requirements for a period of at least
forty-eight hours during a power outage.
Provide the ability to for a back-up alarm system approved by the department that
shall detect unauthorized entry during times when no employees are present at the
facility and that shall be provided by a company supplying commercial grade
equipment, which shall not be the same company supplying the primary security
system.
The laboratory will have processes required to keep all security equipment in goodworking order and the systems shall be inspected and all devices tested on annual
basis.

Part II: Security and Transportation Policies and Procedures
Transportation policies and procedures
Prior to transporting any medical cannabis samples, regardless of form, the laboratory
licensed by the department will maintain a transportation log, in writing, that contains
the following information:
•
•
•
•
•
•

The name and address of the medical cannabis entity from which the sample is
taken;
The name and registration number of the registered testing laboratory
employee transporting the medical cannabis samples;
The license plate number and vehicle type that will transport the shipment;
The time of departure and estimated time of arrival;
The specific travel route, which includes street names and distances; and
The total weight of the samples collected, a description of each sample, and the
total number of samples being transported.

The laboratory transporting medical cannabis will enter the information required in the
inventory tracking system. The transportation log will be made available to law
enforcement agencies upon request. A testing laboratory will maintain all
transportation logs in accordance with the record keeping requirements established
under the rules promulgated in accordance with Chapter 3796. of the Revised Code,
and make them available at the request of the department.
The vehicle transporting the medical cannabis samples or any product containing
medical cannabis will meet the following requirements:
•
•
•
•
•

Be insured as required by law;
Store the medical cannabis samples in a locked, safe, and secure storage
compartment that is part of the motor vehicle, or in a locked storage container
that has a separate key or combination pad;
Ensure that any medical cannabis samples are not visible from the outside of the
vehicle;
Be staffed by a testing laboratory employee registered with the department;
Have access to a secure form of communication with personnel at the testing
laboratory and the ability to contact law enforcement through the 911
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•

emergency system at all times that the vehicle contains medical cannabis
samples, unless notification is impractical under the circumstances; and
Not contain any marks, logos, brands, or other illustrations on the exterior of the
vehicle, other than those affixed to the vehicle by the vehicle manufacturer or
dealership.

Any vehicle transporting medical cannabis samples will travel directly from the facility
from which the samples were collected to the testing laboratory, and will not make any
stops in between except to other medical cannabis entities listed on the transportation
log for collecting samples, to refuel the vehicle, or to notify the medical cannabis
entities, the department and law enforcement in the event of an emergency. In the
event of an emergency, the employees will report the emergency immediately to law
enforcement through the 911 emergency system and to the medical cannabis entities,
which will immediately notify the department, unless the notification is impractical
under the circumstances.
A registered testing laboratory employee transporting medical cannabis samples will
display his or her department issued employee identification card always when
transporting medical cannabis samples and will produce it for the department or
department's authorized representative or law enforcement official upon request;
The laboratory will ensure sampling / pick up times vary and routes are randomized;
•
•
•

Report any vehicle accident that occurs during the transportation to the
management staff of the testing laboratory within two hours after the accident
occurs;
Report any loss or theft of medical cannabis that occurs during the
transportation of medical cannabis in accordance with rule 3796:5-4-01 of the
Administrative Code; and
Carry a copy of the transportation log completed pursuant to paragraph (A) of
this rule for the duration of the trip.

Part III: Facility Plot Plan and Specifications
Address: 226 Sylvania Ave, Nelsonville, OH 45764
Access to the facility will be limited to the reception area (shaded green). Public visitors
are limited to the reception area unless signed-in and escorted with an employee. All
staff will have access to the office floor and laboratory staff will have pass-code or
badge-scan access to the laboratory floor. Within the laboratory section, the sample
storage room will require a second code/scan to access and the surveillance/ server
room will be further restricted to only level 1 employees.
Security camera will be placed in collaboration with the Hocking College Police
Department, to ensure all doors are covered by at least two cameras & there are no
blind spots anywhere in the facility, including the exterior.
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Part IV: Record Keeping, Reporting, Regulatory Compliance,
and Emergency Notification Procedures
The campus community, upon confirmation, will be immediately notified of a significant
emergency on campus or dangerous situation involving an immediate threat to the
health or safety of students or staff, unless issuing a notification will, in the professional
judgment of responsible authorities, compromise the efforts to assist a victim or to
contain, respond to, or otherwise mitigate the emergency.

Record keeping policies
The laboratory will keep and maintain upon the licensed premises for a five-year
period true, complete, legible, and current books and records. All required records must
be made available for inspection if requested by the department. The following records
will be maintained:
•

Records relating to the disposal of excess medical cannabis and medical
cannabis waste;
• Transportation records in accordance with rule 3796:4-2-10 of the
Administrative Code;
• Records of all samples analyzed and the corresponding certificates of analysis;
• Security records in accordance with paragraph (B) of rule 3796:4-2-07 of the
Administrative Code;
• Sample inventory tracking records and sample inventory records maintained in
the inventory tracking system, as well as any records maintained by the facility
outside the inventory tracking system;
• Financial records in accordance with paragraph (C) of this rule;
• Employee records in accordance with paragraph (D) of this rule; and
• Records of any theft, loss, or other unaccountability of any medical cannabis as
described in rule 3796:5- 4-01 of the Administrative Code.
The laboratory will use an electronic system for the storage and retrieval of records
that:
•
•

Guarantees the confidentiality of the information stored in the system;
Can provide safeguards against erasures and unauthorized changes in data
after the information has been entered and verified by the testing laboratory;
• Can place a litigation hold or enforcing a records retention hold for purposes of
investigating or pursuant to ongoing litigation; and
• Is capable of being reconstructed in the event of a computer malfunction or
accident resulting in the destruction of the data bank.
The laboratory will maintain financial records, which will include the following:
•
•

Records that clearly reflect all financial transactions and the financial condition
of the business, including contracts for services performed or received that
relate to the testing laboratory;
Purchase invoices, bills of lading, manifests, sales records, copies of bills of sale,
and any supporting documents, including the items and/or services purchased,
from whom the items were purchased, and the date of purchase;
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•

Bank statements and canceled checks for all accounts relating to the testing
laboratory, if applicable; and
• Accounting and tax records related to the testing laboratory and all investors in
the facility.
The laboratory will maintain employee records, which will include the following:
•

All records relating to the hiring of employees, including applications,
documentation of verification of references, and any other related materials;
• An employee log that includes the following information for every current and
former employee:
o Employee name, address, phone number, and emergency contact
information;
o Registration number and access credential designation;
o Date of hire and date of separation from employment, if applicable, and
the reason for the separation;
o All training, education, and disciplinary records; and
o Salary and wages paid to each employee, and any executive
compensation, bonus, benefit, or item of value paid to any individual
affiliated with any medical cannabis entity, including members of a nonprofit corporation, if any.
The Medical cannabis analysis and disposal records will be stored at the facility and will
include all the following:
•
•

The registered strain or product name, form, and quantity of cannabis involved;
The date the sample was taken from the cultivator or processor and arrived at
the testing laboratory;
The date and time of testing, transporting, or disposing of the medical cannabis;
and
When the medical cannabis is destroyed, the testing laboratory will maintain
record

•
•

Regulatory Compliance
The laboratory will comply with all, to be defined, implementation and compliance with
information reporting into the inventory tracking system.

Emergency notification procedures
The Hocking College Policy Manual defines the Emergency Notification and Timely
Warning process, with more detail in the Emergency Response Policy and the
Emergency Management Guide.
Roadside Breakdowns/Accident
If a fleet vehicle fails to operate correctly or fails to operate, the driver at a minimum
should:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Pull well off roadway.
Activate emergency flashers.
Call for help:
Watching for traffic always, warn other traffic (flashers, etc.).
Stay with your motor vehicle and keep your safety belt on
Lock your doors but keep your windows cracked if needed
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Introduction
Hocking College is making every effort to find funding as allowed by the
Department of Commerce. Hocking College requests that the Department of
Commerce provide further guidance regarding sources of funding allowed under
state law, including:
- Further clarification of restrictions on donors, if any. A “donor” will not
have any impact on the college’s independence, including ownership,
investment, or control. We believe this includes donations from entities
involved in the production or dispensing of marijuana (ownership or
affiliation).
- Further clarification regarding a business model, that will comply with the
state law, and would allow an investment opportunity in the medical
cannabis lab. Hocking College, being a public Ohio Institute of Higher
Educations, cannot sell “equity” in the college.

Clear guidance by the Department of Commerce is needed to assure compliance
with state law by Hocking College.
Current approaches are in process and defined below.

Part I: Funding Analyses
A breakdown of the applicant's proposed and budgeted sources of funding.

Endowment/Fundraising
Hocking has started $5M fundraising effort, as part of its new Laboratory
Science Program. It is anticipated that approximately $3M will be used for the
medical cannabis test lab and $2M for the Lab Science Program. The $3M for
Form T - Page 1 of 10

the medical cannabis testing laboratory labs is approximately budgeted as $1M
to build out the lab facility, $1M in lab equipment, and $1M in operating capital.
The endowment fundraising letter being circulated is:
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Donation contributors are expected to include any individual or organization
supporting the Ohio medical cannabis conditions, including: AIDS, Alzheimer’s,
Cancer, Crohn’s & inflammatory bowel disease (IBS) & ulcerative colitis, epilepsy
or another seizure disorder, fibromyalgia, glaucoma, hepatitis C, multiple
sclerosis, pain, Parkinson’s disease, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), sickle
cell anemia, spinal cord disease or injury, Tourette’s syndrome, and traumatic
brain injury.
Donation contributors may also include any individual or organization supporting
the successful launch of the Ohio Medical Marijuana Program, including
ownership of or affiliation with entities involved in the production or dispensing of
marijuana, as a donation does not include any equity or financial compensation.
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Donation contributors may also include lab equipment companies that may be
interested in donating equipment and/or cash donations.
We are also reaching out to wealthy individuals to help fund this effort. There
have been recent very generous contributions by philanthropists in medical
cannabis programs. Reference: Jefferson Receives $3 Million from Australian
Philanthropist to Support Research in Medicinal Cannabis and Hemp
In addition, from a timing standpoint, many of the foundations have a six-month
review process, (most from January to June and June to December). Several
foundations have closed the current window, placing Hocking College in the
January 2018 time frame.

Private Investors/Venture Capital
We need a definitive approach to engage 3rd parties in an investment
conversation. We have heard from potential investors that they are just going to
wait until the private labs can apply and invest in them. The “private lab option”
is a cleaner, easier to understand, more traditional, less risky investment for
them.
Hocking College is having conversations with several private investors and
venture capital groups. However, it is not clear as of the date of this application,
what business model is acceptable to the Department of Commerce to comply
with state laws. Hocking College cannot sell equity as a public Ohio Institute of
Higher Education.
We may need the ability to create a new entity that may share equity with
Hocking College and investors, and/or provide debt-equity, or provide
management services, or some other creative compensation model. Investors
need a clear path on how and when their investment, and return on investment,
will be paid back. We are asking for assistance from the Department of
Commerce on this matter.

Research Grants
A few of the foundations have recommend that Hocking apply for a research
grant, versus a donation. The research grants will also be pursued.
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State Loan Mechanisms
In addition, state loan mechanisms will be reviewed
•

https://development.ohio.gov/bs/bs_r166dl.htm

•

http://business.ohio.gov/assistance/

•

http://www.pwc.state.oh.us/Loan.html

•

https://development.ohio.gov/summary_67iolfs.htm

Access to Banking
Cannabis laboratory operators must navigate all financial challenges without
any banking support, as banks are forbidden in assisting our industry in any way,
form, or fashion. Simple protocols like checking and lines of credit do not exist for
laboratory owner/operators. As a result, laboratories are forced to handle large
amounts of cash. It is critical for the State of Ohio provide simplified banking
operations for the Ohio Medical Marijuana Program, including, but not limited to,
the testing labs.

Part II: Operating Expense Breakdown
A cash flow summary, start-up cost assumptions and operating cost
assumptions are provided below.
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Startup Costs Assumptions
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Startup costs Assumptions (Continued)

=
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Operating Costs Assumptions
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Hocking College Medical Cannabis Test Lab - Clarification Request #2 - June 2018

EMERGENCY NOTIFICATION POLICIES & PROCEDURES
INTRODUCTION
In the event of an emergency at the Hocking College Medical Cannabis Testing
Laboratory, the following emergency notification policies & procedures will be swiftly
and diligently followed to minimize loss, ensure staff & public safety and comply with
Ohio Revised Code (Rules 3796:4-1-03; 3796:5-4-01).
As part of the on boarding process, lab employees will be provided with a copy of these
emergency notification polices and procedures as part of the staff handbook. The lab
will collect signed acknowledgment of receipt and reading of the handbook from each
new hire within two weeks from first working day.
Any emergency represents an unexpected threat to the security and safety of laboratory
personnel, property and medical cannabis samples. These polices and procedures cover
the complete set of potential situations addressed in the more encompassing Hocking
College Emergency Operations Plan. The most current version of Hocking College
Policies can be found at www.hocking.edu/administrative-policies.
EMERGENCY CONTACT INFORMATION
• Hocking College Police Department Phone number: 740.753.6598
• Life threatening emergency calls can be directed immediately to 911.
• If phones are not available, there are Administrative Radios located in each building
and the Hocking College Police Dispatch Center can be reached on Channel 1.
• The Hocking College Police Department has the ability to contact all essential College
personnel in the event of an emergency.
• The Hocking College Police Department’s office is located adjacent to the parking lot
of Hocking Heights.
• All criminal and emergency situations occurring on any College property, must be
reported to the Hocking College Police Department. For life threatening situations
occurring at branch campuses, it is prudent to first contact 911.

INDEX OF EMERGENCY INCIDENTS DEFINED & COVERED IN THIS POLICY
(1) Theft/Loss
(2) Hazardous Materials/Chemical Spill
(3) Fire
(4) Weather-Related Emergencies - Tornado, Flood, Blizzard

Emergency Policies & Procedures
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(5) Utility Failure/Power Loss
(6) Suspicious Package/Delivery
(7) Illness or Injury - Student, Faculty/Staff
(8) Bomb Threat
(9) Active Shooter
(10) Evacuation of Mobility Impaired

EMPLOYEE EMERGENCY EVACUATION
In the event of an emergency that requires lab employees to evacuate the facility, the
following procedure will be followed. The purpose of this plan is to ensure employee
safety by establishing a safe place to regroup.
In the event of a serious emergency inside of the lab facilities, staff members are to put
their safety over all else. Do not attempt to minimize damages or take actions to protect
lab equipment. Staff members are to leave the lab and proceed to a far edge of the
gravel parking lot south of the building complex. Once all individuals are accounted for,
lab employees will head to the Hocking College Police Department on main campus
(3301 Hocking Pkwy, Nelsonville, OH 45764).
Senior staff & Type 1 employees are expected to direct staff, ensure complete attendance
& initiate notification procedures specific to the type of emergency incident (detailed
below).

OH MMCP (DoC) & LAW ENFORCEMENT NOTIFICATION OF EMERGENCY
Hocking College Medical Cannabis Testing lab will comply with all emergency
notification requirements, providing detail reports to the OH MMCP (via DoC), and the
Hocking College Police Department. Reporting and notification requirements specific to
emergency type are delineated within the Ohio Revised Code & the policies and
procedures for these notifications are contained within each emergency section below.

THEFT/LOSS
Theft, Loss or Diversion of Medical Cannabis
If the Hocking College Test Lab has reason to believe that an actual loss, theft, or
diversion of medical cannabis has occurred, the Scientific Director (a type 1 key
employee) will immediately begin to draft a signed statement providing details of what
had, or is believed to have occurred. This emergency notice statement will be provided
to Hocking College administration, Hocking College Police Department and the Ohio
Emergency Policies & Procedures
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Medical Marijuana Control Program (via Department of Commerce) and will contain
details outlined below.
A report of the incident will be drafted by a Type 1 key employee, and approved by the
Scientific Director. This process will occur within 10 days from the event and the report
will contain the following information:
‣ A review of video surveillance footage during the time of the suspected theft or
diversion;
‣ The names and identification numbers of every employee at the facility at the
time of the theft or diversion;
‣ The internal measures take to locate the cause of the loss, theft, or diversion; and
‣ The total quantity and type of medical marijuana stolen or otherwise diverted
following a subsequent audit of the facility's actual inventory compared to the
inventory reported by the inventory tracking system.
Based on our internal review, the report will describe any changes or revisions to lab
operations that will be taken to prevent future loss, theft, or diversion. In addition, we
will identify all the records at the facility and potential evidence outside the facility,
including video surveillance footage, that will be sealed and prevented from being
destroyed until a full investigation is conducted by the department and law
enforcement, if deemed necessary.
In the event of an alarm activation or other incident that requires a response from the
Hocking College Police Department, a breach of security or a significant failure or
malfunction in the security system the OH MMCP (via DoC) will be notified in writing
within 24 hrs of the incident occurring.
This also applies to any fire or hazardous materials related incidents, resulting in
emergency response teams coming to the lab. We will provide notification to the OH
MMCP (via DoC) within 24 hrs of the incident occurring.
All emergency incident reports, evidence collection & investigation materials will be
stored and maintained within the lab’s information management systems for the
lifetime of the lab. Upon receiving a valid request from a regulatory body, the lab will
make available all information related to past occurrences as required by relevant
sections of Ohio Revised Code.
HAZARDOUS MATERIAL
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An essential aspect of hazardous materials safety is being aware of the dangers that any
materials in your area may pose before a spill or unwanted exposure occurs. Being
prepared for the worst is crucial to hazardous materials safety.
To report an incident, contact the Hocking College Police Department at 740.753.6598
and/or 911. Be prepared to provide information about:
‣ The location of the spill
‣ Any injuries caused by contact with the material
‣ Approximate amount of the material
‣ Any apparent reactions to the material
‣ Type of material spilled, if known
‣ Shut down any equipment or processes near a spill, if you can do so safely.
Lab employees will be trained on the correct procedures this type of incident, put them
into action. The lab procedures will also be readily available for all staff members to
support proper responses without risking staff or public safety.
In the event that staff members are unaware of the proper protocol to deal with a
hazardous material event, they are to evacuate that area and close doors to limit
potential exposure areas as you leave.
Account for all people who were potentially exposed and wait approximately 100 feet
from the building for emergency responders to give further instructions. Lab staff are to
meet in the gravel parking lot south of the lab building at the furthest edge. Senior staff
will the account for everyone before moving them to the Hocking College main campus.
Of note, there are not going to be severely dangerous or potentially life-threatening
hazardous materials in the Hocking College Medical Cannabis Testing Lab. The lab is a
standard analytical chemistry operation, utilizing solvents & reagents standard to
sample prep and analytical testing. There are no corrosive acids, radioactive material,
explosion prone compounds or other seriously potentially dangerous materials found in
the lab.
FIRE
‣ If you see a fire or smoke, pull the fire alarm.
‣ Evacuate the building and call the Hocking College Police Department at
740.753.6598 or 911.
‣ Faculty and staff are responsible for evacuating their offices or classrooms. Senior
staff will direct lab employees to the south gravel parking lot, ensure everyone is
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‣
‣

‣
‣

‣
‣
‣
‣

accounted for & then begin to execute the emergency plans outlined in this
document.
Follow posted evacuation routes and do not use elevators.
If trapped, retreat by placing as many doors between you and the fire as possible
and closing them as you go through. Signal your position from a window and call
the Hocking College Police Department if possible.
If able to do so safely and effectively, assist handicapped persons.
If the fire is very small and you know how to use a fire extinguisher (locations noted
on posted maps), attempt to put it out. If you choose to do so, be prepared to
evacuate at any given moment.
If you are forced to travel through smoke, stay low and use available cloth, such as a
shirt, coat, tie or scarf, as a breathing filter.
Before exiting a door, touch it. If it is hot, DO NOT open it.
Unless instructed otherwise, get 100 feet from the building and account for those
who were in the same room you evacuated.
Report anyone who is missing to the Hocking College Police Department or the Fire
Department, then proceed to respective parking lot and await further instructions.

WEATHER-RELATED EMERGENCIES
TORNADO
‣ Tornado warnings are issued by the National Weather Service. Once you are notified
by the Hocking College Police Department, Athens County EMS Tornado Sirens or
other officials, seek shelter in the designated tornado shelter area in your building. BE
FAMILIAR WITH POSTED MAPS of these areas.
‣ DO NOT go outdoors during a warning. If you are outside, get to the nearest
building.
‣ If you are unfamiliar with posted maps of shelter areas, get to an interior room if
possible. Avoid exterior walls and windows.
‣ All individuals should work together to account for people who were in their area
prior to seeking shelter. If anyone is determined to be missing, the area supervisor or
a representative must contact the Hocking College Police Department to report the
missing individual.
‣ If any building damages or injuries occur, as soon as it is safe to do so, contact the
Hocking College Police Department at 740.753.6598 to report them.
‣ If the building is severely damaged, evacuate as soon as it is safe to do so and go to
your respective parking lot or another area as directed by the Hocking College Police
Department.
FLOOD/BLIZZARD
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‣ In the event of a major flood or snow storm, lab operations may be effected due to
street closures.
‣ Senior staff will assess the situation and determine the safest plan of action regarding
employee travel routes, scheduling and ensuring delays in analytical testing are
minimized as much as possible.
‣ Staff will also verify back-up generators are functional, the security system and data
back-up procedures are not lost or disabled.

UTILITY FAILURE
‣ In the event of a utility failure (power, water, phone or gas), especially if there is a
perceived risk to people or property due to the outage, contact the Hocking College
Police Department at 740.753.6598.
‣ If phones are not available, there are Administrative Radios located in each building
and the Hocking College Police Dispatch Center can be reached on Channel 1.
‣ If safe, remain in place and wait for further directions from the Hocking College
Police Department or college administration.
‣ Emergency lighting is designed for evacuation purposes, not continued occupation of
a building. If you are not contacted and are unable to contact the Hocking College
Police Department during a power outage, evacuate the building within the first 30
minutes after your initial call. Do not attempt to use elevators to evacuate. Refer to
the tab EVACUATION OF THE MOBILITY IMPAIRED if necessary.
‣ The President’s Office and Hocking College Chief of Police will make the
determination of a campus closure. If a closure will be instituted, that information will
be disseminated through all available channels of communication.
SUSPICIOUS PACKAGE
‣ If you notice a suspicious package on campus:
‣ Notify the Hocking College Police Department at 740.753.6598.
‣ DO NOT touch or move the package.
‣ DO NOT pull the fire alarm.
‣ If you have come into contact with it, wash your hands and wait for emergency
personnel to arrive and advise.
‣ Keep track of all people who came into contact with the package.
‣ Immediately report any signs of injury or illness.
‣ Emergency personnel or college officials will determine if an evacuation is justified.
‣ If an evacuation is deemed necessary, report to the area designated by the Hocking
College Police Department.
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ILLNESS/INJURY
For Students:
‣ All injuries should be reported to the Hocking College Police Department at
740.753.6598. They can provide first aid, document the injury appropriately and act as
a liaison for on or off campus emergency resources if deemed necessary.
For Faculty and Staff:
‣ A workplace injury or related illness should be reported to the Hocking College Police
Department and your supervisor immediately. The Hocking College Police
Department will ensure that an Accident/Injury Form is completed and forwarded to
Human Resources.
‣ On campus, you can seek treatment by contacting 911 directly or the Hocking College
Police Department to ensure the quick direction of emergency medical services to you.
‣ After the treatment of a workplace injury you are required to contact Human
Resources at 740.753.6181 to obtain workers’ compensation information.
BOMB THREAT
Bomb threats may be discovered by being notified specifically or discovered by
accident. The first priority in either case is to become as fully aware as possible and
gather as much information as you can. The vast majority of bomb threats are false. Do
not evacuate the building if you receive or discover a bomb threat. After you receive
the threat, use a land line to call the Hocking College Police Department at 740.753.6598.
‣ If the threat was called in, you will be asked to complete a questionnaire about the
call, so try to remember and be aware of anything and everything you can from the
call.
‣ Do not use cell phones if a bomb threat has been made because those frequencies can
be used as a detonation trigger.
‣ The determination for an evacuation will be made by college administration or law
enforcement.
‣ If the call is made to evacuate, unless told to go elsewhere, evacuate to your respective
parking lot.
‣ If you see an unusual package once you become aware of a bomb threat, report it to
the Hocking College Police Department using a land line and follow the suspicious
package protocols posted above.
‣ The Hocking College Police Department or emergency personnel will give further
instructions or clear people to reenter the building.
EVACUATION OF THE MOBILITY IMPAIRED
Emergency Policies & Procedures
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Be aware if you have a handicapped person who may need assistance during an
evacuation, either in your classes or as a colleague.
AMBULATORY INDIVIDUALS:
If the person is ambulatory, not in a wheelchair, assistance can be provided by guiding
them downstairs and to exits during a time when people may not be cognizant of their
needs.
NON-AMBULATORY INDIVIDUALS:
If the person is non-ambulatory, they will be in or have access to a wheelchair. To assist
them:
Contact the Hocking College Police Department at 740.753.6598 and provide the
person’s current location.
Move the individual to the top of the nearest stairwell and await assistance for as long
as it is safe.
If that area is not safe or if it becomes unsafe while you wait, move that individual to
the nearest safe room and close the door, alerting the Hocking College Police
Department of the change of location.
If the situation becomes life threatening and no emergency officials or Police
Department officials have arrived, enlist the help of another person and attempt to
evacuate the handicapped individual via the posted emergency routes.
REMINDER: In the case of a fire or other emergency that can affect power, do not use
elevators to evacuate.

ACTIVE SHOOTER
An active shooter is a person who appears to be actively engaged in killing or
attempting to kill people in a populated area; in most cases active shooters use
firearm(s) and there is no pattern or method to their selection of victims. Hocking
College believes in the “Run, Hide, Fight” idea for these situations. If able to run, do so.
If not, hide and barricade. If found, use anything available as a weapon and fight for
your life.
If at any time faculty or staff witness an individual(s) on college property with a gun or
hear what they believe to be gunshots, the following steps should be taken
immediately:
‣ All persons in common areas should evacuate if possible or take shelter in a room that
can be locked or barricaded.
‣ If possible, evacuate if your room can’t be locked, place a barricade in front of the
door if possible, or determine if there is a nearby location that can be reached safely
and that can be secured or if you can safely exit the building.
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‣ Faculty and staff members that are not in the immediate area of the heard shots
should quickly inform others and evacuate if possible, or have anyone in that hallway
enter their room.
‣ Faculty and staff should then shut the doors to their rooms/offices and lock them.
Use the BEARACADE system to secure the door by slipping it under and shutting the
door, then dropping the metal pin through the hole, into the floor. Turn off the lights
in your room/office and stay out of view.
‣ Everyone should be away from the windows and against a wall or anything that
provides protection and concealment (hard corner).
‣ If possible, contact the Hocking College Police Department at 740.753.6598 or dial 911
as soon as possible and provide any information that you have.
‣ All persons in your room should remain quiet and stay low and out of view.
‣ Unfamiliar voices may be the shooter attempting to lure victims from their safe space;
do not respond to any voice commands until you know that they are being issued by
a police officer. Ask to see a badge, business card, etc.
‣ NIXLE Alert and the public address system will be used to contact all college
community members to inform and direct them in the quickest possible fashion.
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT GUIDELINES
‣ Know your environment
‣ What are my evacuation routes?
‣ Where is my tornado evacuation spot?
‣ How do I shelter in places in this room?
‣ STAY CALM – If you are referring to this guide, people are going to depend on you
and take cues from you on how to act in an emergency. Make intentional choices
about responding to the situation you are in instead of reacting. Act as you would
want someone to act for you in an emergency.
‣ Control the flow of information. Repeat facts that you know to people who need to
know those things for their own safety.
‣ Do not talk to the media unless the Public Relations Director or college administration
has approved it.
‣ If you find yourself in charge of an area, be sure to delegate. Giving people you trust
responsibilities enables them to feel like they are being helpful and frees you up to see
the overall picture.
‣ Be aware of the dangers around you. Help when you can, but understand your
limitations and that endangering yourself or others does not help.
‣ Remember that people’s personalities are going to be a factor in an emergency. Stress
causes a wide range of behavioral traits to come to the surface, some of which can be
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helpful and others quite difficult to deal with. Do not let yourself become frustrated.
Acknowledge and proceed as best as possible.
BACKGROUND & FIT WITHIN LARGER HOCKING COLLEGE POLICES
The Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) and contents within is a guide to how the
College conducts all-hazards response. The EOP is written in support of emergency
management and is built upon the National Response Framework as scalable, flexible,
and adaptable coordinating structures to align key roles and responsibility. This plan
and contents within shall apply to all college personnel participating in mitigation,
preparedness, response, and recovery efforts. Furthermore, tasked organizations
supporting EOP guidelines shall maintain their own procedures/guidelines and
actively participate in the training, exercise, and maintenance needed to support this
plan.
The EOP is intended to capture specific authorities and best practices for managing
incidents of any size or scope. The EOP was prepared by Hocking College staff and
approved by the President and Board of Trustees, thereby enabling activities contained
within this document to be performed within the College’s capability. Furthermore, this
EOP has been made available to the Hocking College community and shared with
external agencies that may be affected by its implementation. This EOP is also accessible
via the web at www.hocking.edu.
PURPOSE
This plan applies to all faculty, staff, students, volunteers, visitors, and community
members. This action plan applies to all occupants of facilities and grounds owned,
operated and/or leased by Hocking College. This plan can be modified as needed and
all interested parties will be notified of any pertinent changes. This plan shall be
available for review at the Hocking College Police Department and is available on-line
at www.hocking.edu.
This plan incorporates the many regulatory requirements concerning the development
and implementation of a campus emergency plan into one meaningful and usable
document. This plan shall act as Hocking College’s contingency plan, required by the
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, and an evacuation plan, required by the U.S.
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), as well as a general safety
plan, required by the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT). This plan incorporates
the necessary planning elements into a single document.
The Hocking College Police Department shall be responsible for plan oversight and
coordination with applicable stakeholders. This EOP is based on the “all-hazards”
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concept and plans for natural and man-made disasters and incidents. The plan is
flexible in that part of the plan or the entire plan may be activated based on the specific
emergency and decision by College executive team. This EOP and its supporting
contents are hereby approved and is effective immediately upon the signing of all
signature authorities noted below.
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